
Annual 
Report 
2019

Challenging 
homelessness. 
Changing lives.



Challenging 
homelessness. 
Changing lives.



Annual Report 
2019

 2019: 
 Our services supported approximately 

 1,800 families and 4,300 children 
 who were homeless or at risk. 



 In Ireland in 2019, every day 

 three families 
 lost their home. 

 5 Foreword
 6 Company information
 7 Our vision, mission and values
 8 Focus on 2019: Our impact in numbers
 10 Messages from chairpersons
 12 Overview of 2019

    Family homelessness  

 15  Supporting families nationwide
 16  Challenging family homelessness
 17  Resource for primary teachers
 18  Investing in Children Membership Award
 19  The Family Centre
 20  Emma’s story

    Youth homelessness  

 23  Prevention
 24  Youth housing
 25  Aftercare
 26  Challenging youth homelessness
 27  Limerick Youth Housing: Johnny’s story

    Single people with complex needs  

 31  Challenging homelessness for  
single people with complex needs

 32  Julie’s story
 35  Housing First
 35  Housing First: Limerick 
 36  Housing First: South East 

    Focus Housing Association  

 39  New homes
 40  Grange Cohan, Co. Waterford
 42  Paul’s story
 44  John’s Lane West

 47 Research and submissions

 48 Reports and consolidated  
financial statements

Note: Throughout the report, some names have 
been changed to protect the privacy of individuals. 
Changed names are marked with an asterisk.

Contents



Sadly, not everyone has this security. 
The harsh reality is that an average of 
three families lost their home every 
day in 2019.

I can remember back in 1987, 
which was the International Year of 
Homelessness, predicting that within six 
or seven years, we would end long-term 
homelessness.

It could have happened, except that 
governments reneged on commitments 
to provide houses. And so the numbers 
of people experiencing homelessness 
grew and grew, up until now. It is way 
beyond crisis.

I did not think that things could still get 
worse, but they did in 2019. It is truly awful that 
we are now seeing more babies being born into 
homelessness.

One young mother told me how she was 
homeless when her baby boy was born. The 
woman, Louise, explained: ‘I had just found out I 
was pregnant when our landlord told us he was 
selling the house we were renting. Our world fell 
apart. We were desperate – searching day and 
night for somewhere new to stay.’

I am glad to say we were able to help Louise 
and her family, as we at least got them into 
proper emergency accommodation. They were 
still homeless for a while but we worked with 
them and they now have a home.

While Louise’s story had a happy ending, 
no family should ever have to go through the 
trauma of losing their home and being homeless. 
No child should ever be born into homelessness.

Families and individuals lose their homes as 
they can’t afford to pay the rent or the house is 
sold or repossessed. They have been called ‘The 
New Homeless’. That is the people who become 
homeless for purely economic reasons.

I believe that, as a country, we have a duty 
to look after all our citizens, especially those 
who are most vulnerable. We must cherish all 
our children equally and ensure that no child 
suffers from being homeless.

Focus Ireland works hard to do this, and we 

continue to develop realistic policy solutions to 
help end homelessness. We also work through 
over 80 front-line services in Dublin and across 
the country so we are there when people need 
us the most. This amazing work is done in 
partnership with the State, as well as through 
kind support from our generous donors.

All of us at Focus Ireland firmly believe that 
homelessness can be ended. We know what is 
working and what isn’t. And we also have a very 
clear vision of what needs to be done by the 
government and all parties concerned in order 
to ease and then end this crisis.

This vision is outlined in this annual report 
and is informed directly by the amazing work 
our staff does as we help to support families 
and individuals while they are homeless. Our 
staff work with people to help them to find and 
secure a place to call home.

As I write this we are still dealing with the 
Covid-19 public health emergency and Focus 
Ireland is working more closely than ever with 
the State and partner organisations to protect 
people who are homeless. Welcome steps, 
such as the temporary ban on evictions and 
the rent freeze, had a big impact in cutting the 
numbers becoming homeless.

We have helped to move record numbers 
of families and individuals out of homelessness 
in this period. This work must continue. As the 
country opens up, we must not let homelessness 
be a part of our new normal. We need to move on 
from short-term measures and hubs to providing 
more social and affordable rental housing.

I would like to conclude by paying special 
thanks to the families and individuals who 
took the time to tell their own stories in our 
Annual Report 2019.

The outstanding work by our staff with so 
many means that people who feel hopeless 
when they are homeless can light the flame 
of belief in themselves once more.

They build belief that the bad times 
won’t last forever, belief that they can come 
through this crisis.

Belief that we can really end homelessness.

Foreword
We can all take home for granted a lot of the time. But deep down 
we all know what it means. Our home is the foundation stone of 
our personal and family life. It’s where we belong and feel safe.

Sr Stanislaus Kennedy
Life President and 
Founder, Focus Ireland

 All of us at Focus  

 Ireland firmly believe  

 that homelessness can  

 be ended. We know  

 what is working and  

 what isn’t. And we  

 also have a very clear  

 vision of what needs  

 to be done by the  

 government and all  

 parties concerned in  

 order to ease and then  

 end this crisis. 
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Our mission
We are driven by the fundamental belief that 
homelessness is wrong.

Wrong because it is a failure of society that 
creates victims out of ordinary people and robs 
them of their potential. Wrong because it can 
be prevented, it can be solved but is allowed to 
continue and in doing so, undermines society.

We need to challenge our society to think 
and act differently. We are committed to 
challenging everything about homelessness; 
the causes, systemic failures, people’s 
perceptions and how it is tackled.

And we challenge ourselves in how we 
allocate resources to maximise our ability to 
prevent people from falling into homelessness 
and to help people find and keep a home.

Homelessness is wrong and we have to 
make that felt in everything we do and say.

Our values
Focus Ireland’s models for service provision 
are dictated by the needs of our customers. 
We believe that the quality of service 
delivery is as important as the kind of 
service we provide.

There are nine primary values that 
underpin our models of service delivery, 
both to our staff and our customers:

 > Respect
 > Safety
 > Quality
 > Partnership
 > Accessibility
 > Integration
 > Advocacy
 > Empowerment
 > Stewardship

Our vision,  
mission and values
Focus Ireland works with people who are homeless 
or at risk of losing their homes across Ireland.

Our vision
Focus Ireland believes that everyone has a right  
to a place they can call home.
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Approximately 14,200 customers  
engaged with our services

Approximately 1,800 families  
engaged with our services

Nearly 4,300 children  
supported across our services

Approximately 425 adults  
supported into PETE* programmes
* Preparation for Education, Training and Employment

Over 1,150 households supported to 
settle into a new home or supported on 
a pathway towards sustaining an exit

Over 810 families  
supported out of homelessness

425 young people  
supported by our youth services

Over 640 households  
supported to keep their homes

Approximately 410 children  
supported in TSS* services outside Dublin
* Tenancy Sustainment Support

Over 5,000 customers engaged  
with our A&I* services
* Advice and Information

Focus on 2019:  
Our impact in numbers
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Sr Stan launches Focus Ireland’s Christmas appeal 2019 with 3-week-old 
Amélie Cooney, daughter of Focus Ireland staff member Aoife Cooney.

Focus on our:
 > Peer researchers – page 18

 > Volunteers – page 24

 > Preparation for Education, Training and Employment services – page 29

 > Coffee Shop – page 31

 > Advice & Information services – page 36
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Every day, Focus Ireland sets out to Challenge 
Homelessness and Change Lives, and 2019  
again demonstrated a remarkable level of 
achievement of these goals against the backdrop 
of a national housing and homelessness crisis. 
These human stories at the front line are what 
makes Focus Ireland impactful and meaningful. 
And these stories can only happen if the solid 
work of good governance – and what our  
values refer to as ‘stewardship’ – is happening 
in the background. This too has always been a 
strength of Focus Ireland.

In 2019 we achieved records in fundraising. 
Also, in a very demanding context of competitive 
tendering in the sector, we grew our contracted 
services with statutory bodies across the 
country. This provides us with a firm basis of 
engagement with statutory partners, balanced 
with our own independence to innovate and  
‘go the extra mile’ with the people who  
need our help.

In 2019 we saw significant changes at the 
senior level of the organisation, with long-serving 

Directors of Services, Fundraising 
and Human Resources moving on or 
retiring. I want to thank the departing 
staff for their contribution over the 
years, and it is tribute to the reputation 
and health of the organisation they 
helped to build that we have been 
recruiting and promoting such effective 
replacements.

At the time of writing, the even 
greater challenges of 2020 are already 
apparent – with the Covid-19 pandemic 
closing down much of our society. 
The Focus Ireland Board is confident that our 
legacy of good governance will provide us 
with a strong basis to meet this new situation, 
and the deep understanding and loyalty of 
our donors will continue to provide us with 
the resources we need. This will allow the 
skills and commitment of our staff across the 
country to shine out, providing help and hope 
during what we expect to be a year in which 
our services are more needed than ever.

Messages from 
chairpersons
This publication is the 2019 joint report from the two independent 
charitable companies – Focus Ireland and Focus Housing Association. 

The details of the finances and governance of the two companies are set out on 
pages 48–113. The two separate companies provide an integrated service to people 
who face, or have faced, homelessness, and the personal stories and scale of the 
impact of this integrated approach are set out in the rest of the report.

The Chairpersons of the two independent Boards set out their  
messages for stakeholders.

Michael Layde
Chairperson of Focus Ireland

 These human stories  

 at the front line are  

 what makes Focus  

 Ireland impactful  

 and meaningful. 
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It was a milestone year in 2019 for 
Focus Housing Association as we 
completed the demanding process 
through which Focus Housing 
Association became established as a 
fully independent Approved Housing 
Body. Since 1988, Focus Housing 
has been a distinct company, with 
Approved Housing Body status, but 
since 1995 the two organisations have 
operated with a single Board and Chair.

Approved Housing Bodies 
now play a crucial part in the Government’s 
plans to deliver social housing and this 
increased role brings with it the need 
for stronger regulation. Focus Housing’s 
ambitious programme requires us to borrow 
for investment in new homes and meet the 
standards of governance and transparency 
that statutory and private lenders require.  
To reach these goals, we have worked closely 
with the new AHB Regulator to achieve the 
highest new standards of governance.

As of 2019, Focus Housing now has its own 
Board, ready to meet the rigorous standards of 
the AHB Regulator and maximising our ability 
to invest in homes that we can rent out at 

affordable prices to vulnerable individuals and 
families moving out of homelessness.

In 2019 we continued to meet our target of 
providing 99 additional homes, bringing the 
total number of additional homes provided in 
the last four years to 594. In a number of cases, 
once the new tenant is settled, we have decided 
to transfer the property out of our own stock. 
As a result, our impact in providing new homes 
for people moving out of homelessness is not 
fully reflected in the growth of our own stock. 
Our approach reflects our core philosophy of 
maximising the number of people whose lives 
we can change for the better, rather than adding 
to our housing stock.

It was great to see tenants moving into our 
landmark new development in John’s Lane 
West in 2019, with the project later winning a 
prestigious Community Housing Award. This 
completed the phase in our development in 
which we build on land acquired before the 
2008 crash. During 2020 we will be utilising 
our new growth capacity to purchase pepper-
potted new homes as well as exploring new 
ways in which we can contribute to the building 
of high-quality, secure homes for people 
moving out of homelessness.

Diarmuid Burke
Chairperson of Focus Housing Association

 Our approach reflects  

 our core philosophy  

 of maximising the  

 number of people  

 whose lives we can  

 change for the better. 

Pauline McLynn lends 
her support to the 
Great Get Together 
fundraising initiative 
for Focus Ireland in 
March 2019
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This report tells the story of how Focus Ireland 
and Focus Housing Association played a key 
role in the achievements of 2019. The report 
sets out the numbers, images, experiences of 
staff and, most important, the stories of the 
people we supported. We want to explain 
the work we do and the difference we make. 
So, the report is structured not around our 
own internal organisational units, but around 
the people we work with. In the section on 
families, we cover the work that our prevention 
services, housing services, research and 
advocacy staff, and housing team undertook to 
assist families – and the key donors who made 
that work possible. All our work with young 
people and with single people with complex 
needs is reported in the same way.

Of course, the details of how we deliver 
this work are important too – for transparency 
and accountability. Therefore, at the core of 
this report is the comprehensive financial 
report, which allows you to understand how 
we deployed our resources to the greatest 
effect during the year.

As the number of people looking for our 
support grew in recent years, we recognised 
the risk that we might interact with more and 
more people but to less and less effect. To 

overcome this challenge, our services have 
moved to intensify their support with each 
person we work with. As a result, for the first 
time in many years, we worked with fewer 
people than previous years – but the benefits of 
the shift are clear in our impact. We supported 
a record 1,790 households to avert a risk of 
homelessness (prevention) or move to a new 
secure home (exit from homelessness). This 
reflects our philosophy that what matters is not 
the number of people who cross our threshold 
but the number of lives we can help change.

There are many routes into homelessness, 
but every route out involves an affordable home. 
For thirty years, a key part of Focus Ireland’s 
contribution has been to add to the number 
of affordable homes through our housing arm, 
Focus Housing Association. During 2019 we 
directly provided 99 additional homes. And 2019 
also saw the much-anticipated opening of our 
award-winning development of 31 new homes in 
John’s Lane West.

The belief that we can end homelessness 
is core to Focus Ireland, and we know that the 
skilled and dedicated work of our own front-
line services must be underpinned by effective 
public policies on housing and social services. 
With 2019 dominated by expectations of an 

Overview of 2019
After six years in which the number of people forced into 
homelessness kept rising, 2019 at last saw the numbers stabilise, 
presenting the hope that – if we redouble our efforts – we can begin 
to turn the tide. There is still a long way to go, but now is the  
time to talk about ending the scourge of homelessness –  
rather than managing the damage it does.

Pat Dennigan
CEO
Focus Ireland
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imminent General Election, we made a point 
of engaging with politicians from government 
and opposition parties to highlight the 
policies and priorities our experience tells us 
are needed. We hope that our campaigns on 
EndYouthHomelessness, the Right to Housing, 
on housing building, social housing and family 
homelessness will also contribute to a better 
understanding of the solutions to homelessness 
among public representatives – and to more 
effective policies.

Since 2012, the Shine a Light CEO sleep-
out has been a highlight of the year but in 
2019 the sponsorship of Bord Gáis Energy 
helped us bring the event to a new level of 
impact and awareness. In particular, Bord Gáis 
Energy’s decision to invest in broadcasting 
our hard-hitting ‘Moving Day’ advert brought 
home the reality of the family homelessness 
crisis to a much wider audience.

Increased family homelessness has been 
one of the most distressing aspects of the crisis, 
and Focus Ireland has, in collaboration with 
DRHE, local authorities, the HSE and Tusla, 
continued to lead the way in understanding 
and responding. In recent years, we have found 
it increasingly difficult to meet the needs of 
families and individuals at the same time in 
the same space in our pivotal Coffee Shop 
– and 2019 saw us advance plans for a new 
Family Centre to provide essential support 

to vulnerable families. I believe that, with the 
support of donors and statutory partners, this 
new service will play a vital role in reports of our 
work in years to come.

Work on the new Family Centre is only 
one part of our planning and preparation 
for the future. In 2020 we will roll out our 
Orion project – a new system for tracking the 
effectiveness of our services, launching a new 
wave of Housing First projects in the South 
East and Mid-West and starting work on a new 
strategic plan for the organisation – a plan 
which we hope will move us on from struggling 
with ever-rising homelessness and back 
towards the demanding aspiration of bringing 
homelessness back down towards zero.

Rereading this report for publication 
reminds me of the huge number of people we 
have to thank for making these achievements 
possible. I want to thank our individual and 
corporate donors, all the statutory agencies 
and Local Authorities who not only funded our 
work but worked in partnership with us, all our 
dedicated front-line staff and the less visible 
backroom staff too. I also want to thank the 
members of our two Boards – Focus Ireland and 
Focus Housing Association – who continue to 
give their time, commitment and wisdom to us 
on a voluntary basis.

As we send the 2019 report to the printers, 
the unique challenges of 2020 and the Covid-19 
pandemic are already upon us. If there is one 
Covid-19 lesson that we can learn from 2020 and 
apply to the future, it is the value of partnership. 
At Focus Ireland, partnership has always been 
a core value, and we know that it is essential to 
solving homelessness. The pandemic reminded 
us all how important it is to renew this value and 
how effective that can make us.

 I also want to thank the members of our two Boards –  

 Focus Ireland and Focus Housing Association –  

 who continue to give their time, commitment  

 and wisdom to us on a voluntary basis. 

 We supported a record 

 1,790 households 
 to avert a risk of homelessness 
 or move to a new secure home. 
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 2019: 
 We assisted 

 810 families 
 across the country to find a home, 
 and we supported another 

 640 households 
 to keep their homes. 
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Since the current and unprecedented family 
homelessness crisis began to emerge around 
2014, we have worked with partners all around 
Ireland to apply our expertise and experience to 
help families. As always, our efforts are directed 
at preventing homelessness, where possible, and 
supporting the fastest exit from homelessness 
where it occurs. With family homelessness we 
also have the crucial role of helping families 
protect their children from the potentially life-
long harm that homelessness can do.

Throughout 2019 our services across the 
country supported approximately 1,800 families 
and 4,300 children, who were living in a range 
of emergency accommodation (such as hotels), 
own-door accommodation and family hubs. 
Focus Ireland has a proud track record of 
helping families out of homelessness. During 
2019 we assisted 810 families across the country 
to find a home, and we supported another 640 
households to keep their homes.

In Dublin, the Focus Ireland Family 
Homeless Action Team (FHAT) continued to 
be the lead service working with homeless 
families during 2019, as part of the Dublin 
Region Homeless Executive response to 
homelessness. The aim of FHAT is to help 
families move out of homelessness into long-
term homes. Working with the local authorities 
and others, our FHAT team supported a record 
330 families to move out of homelessness in 
2019. When families are overwhelmed by the 
trauma of homelessness, it is much harder for 
them to find and sustain a new home. This is 
why our FHAT team works with families to 
develop the accommodation pathways that will 
assist them in finding a home and reduce the 
chance of them becoming homeless again.

Outside Dublin, our Tenancy Sustainment 
Support services worked with many different 
City and County Councils to support 410 
children in nearly 200 families. Focus Ireland 
support can involve finding a new home for a 
family – and sometimes it can involve getting 
a family back together again.

In Cork, we were able to offer several 
families new homes in 2019. One of these 
families was to a mother who was supported 
to create a stable home environment in the 
home she rented from us. This enabled her to 
be reunified with her children, who had been 
in foster care for a number of years.

In Waterford, Focus Ireland supported 
a new initiative from the local City and 
County Council to provide a response to 
homeless families that is better than B&Bs, 
hotels or hubs. In this new approach, the 
local authority ring-fences 20 of its ordinary 
council houses for short-term emergency 
use by homeless families. We supported 
these families working to rapidly re-house to 
long-term homes through the government’s 
Housing Assistance Payment (HAP) or social 
housing – moving on after an average of just 
10 weeks. This reduces trauma and distress 
for families. It enables them to live normal 
family lives and, at the same time, get the 
support they need to move on.

Funding from Bord Gáis Energy allowed 
us to offer families activities including 
day trips (with lunch vouchers) to centres 
such as Fota Wildlife Park. This important 
initiative allowed hard-pressed families 
to take part in normal, everyday activities 
without undermining their precarious 
weekly budget.

Family homelessness

Supporting families nationwide

Focus Ireland has been the lead organisation working with families 
that are homeless since this form of homelessness first began to 
emerge in the 1980s. 

 Focus Ireland support  

 can involve finding a  

 new home for a family  

 – and sometimes it  

 can involve getting  

 a family back  

 together again. 

15Focus Ireland Annual Report 2019



Challenging family 
homelessness

A crucial part of our support for families 
is to commission high-quality research to 
further our understanding of the causes of 
homelessness and the practices and policies 
that are most effective in ending it. During 
2019, a publication in our well-regarded 
Insights in Family Homelessness series showed 
that families living in the private rented 
sector are continuing to bear the brunt of the 
deepening housing and homelessness crisis.

The researchers interviewed 237 families 
who were homeless in Dublin and found 
that 68% of them (161 families) had their last 
stable home in the private rented sector. 
Over half these families (86 out of 161) 
became homeless because their landlord 
stopped renting out the property – either 
selling the property, moving into the 

property themselves, or seeing the property 
repossessed by the bank.

The report shows that the majority of 
families who became homeless had had stable 
housing histories: 9 out of 10 respondents had 
lived in their last stable home for over a year, and 
33% had lived in their last stable home for over 
six years. The report also highlight the enormous 
effort families took to find new homes.

Focus Ireland would like to thank Bord Gáis 
Energy for funding this research and report. 
Focus Ireland’s partnership with Bord Gáis 
Energy focuses on two specific areas within 
the charity’s range of services: preventing 
family homelessness and providing support to 
families who are homeless.

Focus Ireland participated in the National 
Homeless Forum’s working group on family 
homelessness, convened by the Department 
of Housing, Planning and Local Government, 
which expects to report in 2020.

‘The main aim of our short-term 
accommodation is to empower families 
with the tenancy skills to move on and 
sustain long-term accommodation. My 
relationship with the families I work with 
is a key part of my job. It’s important that 
there’s a level of trust between us. I’m 
entering into their homes and their family 
life, so trust and confidentiality is vital.’

Lorraine Kelly, Short-Term 
Accommodation for Families,  
Focus Ireland Sligo
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Resource for primary teachers

In 2019, Focus Ireland and the Irish National 
Teachers’ Organisation (INTO) produced a 
guidance resource for primary school teachers 
who are supporting pupils and families who 
are homeless or at risk, called Homelessness in 
the Classroom. The guide highlights the reality 
of homelessness and its impact on children’s 
education. It offers practical suggestions 

about how schools can support pupils, and 
also shares examples of good practice already 
happening in many schools. The new resource 
was launched at St. Joseph’s National School, 
Macroom Road, Bonnybrook, Dublin 17.

Throughout 2019, Focus Ireland called for 
the government to review its policies dealing 
with child homelessness and stated that such a 
review must examine very carefully how children 
are being treated in the homelessness crisis.

‘A school principal told me that he didn’t fully understand 
the impact that homelessness can have on children, and 
that reading Homelessness in the Classroom really opened 
his eyes to the impact of homelessness on children’s 
mental health, their attendance and participation in 
school, and the barriers to their basic needs.

Children experiencing homelessness may have to travel 
long distances to get to school. They may not have space 
to do their homework in emergency accommodation. 
They may not have any space to play outside. This 
principal and the teachers at the school are now using our 
resource guide to implement additional facilities in the 
school to support these children and their families.’

Amanda Leenheer, Focus Ireland  
Child Support Worker, Dublin

Pictured at the launch  
of Homelessness in  
the Classroom are  
Feargal Brougham,  
INTO President;  
Mike Allen, Director of 
Advocacy, Focus Ireland; 
and Sarah Jane O’Grady, 
Child Support Worker, 
Focus Ireland.

17Focus Ireland Annual Report 2019



Investing in Children 
Membership Award

At Focus Ireland, we were proud to be 
awarded the Investing in Children Membership 
Award™ by Tusla for our work with children 
at the Horizon Hub. The project was the first 
homeless hub in Ireland to be awarded this 
accolade. This is a testament to the hard work 

and innovative approaches of Focus Ireland 
and Horizon House staff. The award was in 
recognition of imaginative and inclusive 
practice and is awarded to organisations that 
demonstrate a commitment to dialogue with 
young people that leads to change.

Focus on: 
Peer researchers
An important feature of our research programme has been the 
involvement of researchers with lived experience of homelessness. 
Our peer researchers have supported our work by contributing their 
insights and understanding of the issues facing people experiencing 
homelessness, as they have previously experienced homelessness 
themselves. A core part of this work is building the confidence 
and skills of our peer researchers, with the goal of further work 
opportunities. A highlight of our research programme in 2019 was 
our hosting of a seminar entitled Peer Research and Understanding 
Homelessness in partnership with The Housing Agency. The seminar 
was attended by over 60 participants from government agencies, 
NGOs and academia. It featured presentations by experts from around 
Europe, including the Focus Ireland team of peer researchers.

Focus Ireland’s peer researchers 
(L–R) Emma, Paul and Kathlenna
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‘The best part of my job is working with 
a family, getting to know them, trying to 
empower them and help them through a 
tough time. It’s amazing to see how resilient 
people are. There’s nothing better than when 
you get a call from them saying they got the 
keys for their new home. The excitement for 
the kids about the simple things – having a 
bedroom, having space for toys again, having 
friends over. There’s nothing better.’

Nicola Stewart, Focus Ireland  
Family Centre, Dublin

The Family Centre

The Focus Ireland Coffee Shop in Temple Bar 
has been at the heart of Focus Ireland services 
for over 30 years. In recent years, as family 
homelessness soared, the Coffee Shop had 
found it increasingly difficult to meet the wide-
ranging needs of people seeking support. Early 
in 2019, we began to work on establishing a 
new dedicated service for parents and children, 
which would allow the Coffee Shop to continue 
to support single people with complex needs. 
Towards the end of 2019, the doors opened to 
Focus Ireland’s new Family Centre.

Like all Focus Ireland services, the Family 
Centre is dedicated to helping families exit 
homelessness, dealing with all the problems 

that stand in the way of these families finding 
a secure home. When it is fully operational, 
the Family Centre will bring together the 
following services in one location: Advice 
and Information, case management, key 
workers and child support workers. It will also 
provide the daily needs of a family, such as 
warm nutritious meals, a safe space to sit 
together to eat and laundry facilities. It will 
also provide a unique and specially designed 
childcare service. Here, parents can be certain 
their children are being looked after, while 
the parents concentrate on sessions with a 
case manager or work to secure a new home. 
We would like thank Sodexo, CRH and the 
Little Company of Mary who have generously 
invested in the Centre to ensure its success.

Focus Ireland 
Family Centre
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 Emma remembers how difficult it was to raise a baby in  
 emergency accommodation, and the isolation she faced. 
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Explaining the circumstances which led her to 
homelessness, Emma recalls: ‘I left my mum’s 
house to move in with my ex-boyfriend. Then 
everything went wrong. I decided to leave 
him, but I couldn’t go back to my mum as I had 
fallen out with her.’

Emma remembers how difficult it was to 
raise a baby in emergency accommodation, 
and the isolation she faced.

‘If I wanted to go home to see my friends 
and family in Ballyfermot, it would take 
three buses to get there from my emergency 
accommodation. Sometimes I wouldn’t even 

bother leaving the room with my baby and 
I’d just stare at the four walls. I remember not 
even being able to have visitors – and this 
wasn’t helping my mental health.’

She also noticed how her time in 
emergency accommodation was adversely 
affecting her son. ‘I found my baby was 
falling behind, he wasn’t even walking and I 
was very worried. Being in that small room 

affected the baby’s development: he didn’t 
even have room to move.’

Despite the trauma Emma experienced on 
becoming homeless, Focus Ireland’s Family 
Action Team were – and still are – a crucial 
form of emotional support for the young 
mother. Emma said: ‘They helped me face both 
homelessness and personal issues. My project 
worker, Lisa, was great as she advised what 
to do and say when looking for a new home. 
The emotional support was also great. I hadn’t 
realised Focus Ireland would be able to help me 
so much with personal issues.’

With assistance from Focus Ireland, Emma 
found a two-bedroom house in Clondalkin 
through the Housing Assistance Payment (HAP) 
after 18 long months without a home. ‘I now live 
just down from the estate where I grew up as 
a child. It’s great because I’m closer to all my 
family and friends. My son is also much happier. 
He now has lots of space to move around and 
develop, which he never had before,’ she said.

The young mother was forced to drop out of 
college due to homelessness but is now looking 
to continue her studies, with the hope of finding 
a job looking after older people as a carer.

Emma believes that Focus Ireland have 
helped change her life for the better. ‘Having a 
good relationship with my key worker was so 
important. She was always there for me. She 
saw me cry. She saw when I was happy. I was 
given motivation to keep trying, which helped 
me find the home I’m in now.’

Emma’s story
Emma is a 20-year-old lone parent who never thought she would 
have to endure the heartbreak of homelessness. When she first 
entered emergency accommodation, she was seven months 
pregnant and her life faced a crisis. Her son was born into 
homelessness. For 18 months, Emma had little belief she would find 
a home, as she was unemployed and had no history of renting.

 ‘They helped me face both homelessness and personal issues.  

 My project worker, Lisa, was great as she advised what to do  

 and say when looking for a new home. The emotional support  

 was also great. I hadn’t realised Focus Ireland would be  

 able to help me so much with personal issues.’ 
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 2019: 
 425 young people 
 were supported by our 
 youth services. 
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Young people with experience of state care 
can face particular risks of homelessness and 
have been a particular concern of Focus Ireland 
over many decades. Focus Ireland research has 
confirmed international evidence that many 
young people avoid homeless services by ‘sofa 
surfing’ or living in insecure arrangements. This 
means that the official figures do not reflect the 
true depth of the problem.

Focus Ireland provides a range of services 
for young people across the country, including 
Aftercare, Residential Aftercare, family 
mediation, day services, youth housing and 
Housing First for Youth, some of which are 
provided in partnership with Tusla, HSE, local 
authorities and other state agencies.

We could not operate our youth services 
without the generous support of our donors. 
We would like to thank all our donors who 
support youth services – in particular the 
Applegreen Charitable Foundation and 
members of the Women’s Philanthropy Circle, 
whose support in 2019 helped prevent young 
people from becoming homeless.

Prevention

With the support of Tusla, Focus Ireland has 
been gradually increasing the range of its 
successful family mediation services. During 
2019, we managed the Intensive Home Support 
Service in Dublin South Central, funded through 
Tusla’s Creative Community Alternatives 
funding stream. The service was a high-level 
prevention project aimed at children aged 
12–17 who were in care or on the edge of care. 
It provided intense support to children where 
the relationship with family or caregivers has 
severely broken down. Such an intensive service 
can only work with a few children, but they are 
the ones who are too often forgotten, and the 
beneficial impact can last a lifetime, potentially 
averting a life of homelessness.

Partnership is key to effective prevention. 
In Limerick in 2019 a new Steering Committee 
was formed to improve partnership with other 
agencies. The Steering Committee includes 
staff from Tusla, Aftercare, Limerick Homeless 
Action Team and Focus Ireland.

Youth homelessness
Young people who are homeless in Ireland have remained a 
largely forgotten group and there are few dedicated homeless 
services to meet their particular needs.

 Focus Ireland research has confirmed international evidence that many young people  

 avoid homeless services by ‘sofa surfing’ or living in insecure arrangements.  

 This means that the official figures do not reflect the true depth of the problem. 
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Youth housing

Focus Ireland continues to provide safe and 
supported housing to young people based on 
their individual needs. In response to a Focus 
Ireland proposal, a programme to ring-fence 
funding from the Capital Assistance Scheme 
(CAS) to purchase homes to be rented to 
vulnerable care leavers was introduced in 2017. 
By the end of 2019, Focus Housing Association 
had purchased 37 housing units using this Tusla 
CAS programme, allowing young people leaving 
care to move into long-term, secure housing.

The Limerick Youth Housing Service took 
on four new Tusla CAS properties in 2019 and 
expanded in the county, taking on cases outside 
the city for the first time.

In Waterford, Housing First for Youth worked 
with 36 young people in 2019 and supported 30 
young people into their own homes – half these 
homes are Focus Ireland properties.

Cork Youth Housing also had a case 
load of 30 young people. The Youth 
Housing project in Cork linked in with our 
Great to Train programme – an initiative 
that provides education and training for 
marginalised people. Educational courses 
are directed towards young people who are 
most excluded from education. Courses 
are provided in the education ‘black spots’ 
identified by the Education Training Board 
(ETB) in Cork city. In 2019, through this 
partnership, 15 young people benefited 
from a combination of training courses. 
Many of these young people successfully 
took up employment for the first time or 
successfully re-entered employment.

During 2019, Focus Ireland supported 
several young people to receive counselling, 
and others were supported towards primary 
drug treatment, secondary treatment, harm 
reduction and maintaining recovery.

 By the end of 2019, Focus Housing Association had purchased 37 housing units using this Tusla CAS  

 programme, allowing young people leaving care to move into long-term, secure housing. 

Focus on: 
Volunteers
Volunteers have always been vital to the work of Focus Ireland and we are grateful 
for the commitment and expertise that our volunteers bring to the organisation. 
Throughout 2019, our volunteers provided valuable support to the Coffee Shop and 
our Advice & Information services across Dublin. Volunteers supported our work 
across the country by acting as School Visit Ambassadors, a programme which 
aims to encourage secondary schools to become actively involved around the issue 
of homelessness in Ireland. Volunteers also offered support to Focus Ireland by 
undertaking roles such as Befrienders, Literacy Tutors and Art Tutors in 2019. At 
year end, there were 70 long-term volunteers involved with Focus Ireland. In 2019 
alone, we received nearly 270 applications for our volunteer roles.

‘I decided I wanted to do something, however small, to help alleviate the 
homelessness crisis and I joined Focus Ireland as a Schools Ambassador. 
It has been a hugely interesting and rewarding experience speaking to 
students, from all ages and backgrounds, about the causes and effects of 
homelessness. At the end of every talk, I know I am helping in some small 
way to push back against the growing tide of homeless children.’

Frank Fitzpatrick, School Visit Ambassador, Dublin
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Aftercare

On behalf of Tusla in Dublin and the South 
East, Focus Ireland provides Aftercare support 
for young people leaving care. In 2019, Focus 
Ireland responded to the growing number of 
care leavers and the high demand for aftercare 
services. We funded two additional aftercare 
workers in Dublin. These workers supplement 
and offer additional support to our Tusla-funded 
Aftercare Support and Settlement teams.

In Waterford and Wexford, after detailed 
discussions, Tusla agreed to transition the 
residential aftercare service there into a 
Housing First for Youth model. This will use 
Tusla CAS and existing Residential Aftercare 
properties to provide long-term homes with 
support. The project worked with 44 young 
people in 2019 and will be evaluated as part 
of a European Housing First Hub initiative on 
Housing First for Youth.

Tusla’s new national Aftercare Framework 
is based on legislation which reflects years 
of Focus Ireland advocacy. The framework 
heralds a new phase of aftercare provision 
in Ireland. As a contribution to documenting 
the effectiveness of this new approach, 
Focus Ireland commissioned the University 
of York to consult care leavers and aftercare 
workers about a comprehensive approach 
to measuring outcomes. The report, Brighter 
Future for Care Leavers, provided a solid base 
for a new approach to collecting information 
and tracking outcomes for care leavers in a 
collaborative way. Over the coming years, 
Focus Ireland will build on this work with a 
pilot project entitled Leaving Well.

Focus Ireland continues to be an active 
member of the Irish Aftercare Network and 
sponsored their conference in May 2019 on 
the theme of trauma-informed practice.

‘I provide ongoing support to young people who are 
transitioning from the Care System to adulthood. This 
involves assessment and formulation of an aftercare plan 
that is based on the needs of each individual young person. 
It is crucial that the young person plays a central role in 
the formulation of their aftercare plan from the beginning.

On a day-to-day basis, my role can entail responding 
to immediate crises, but mostly involves contacting 
and meeting young people I work with and engaging 
in key working sessions to discuss the progress of their 
aftercare plan, formulate new goals, and get a sense 
of current goal progress. I advocate on behalf of the 
young people with state and other agencies with a view 
to supporting them with needs such as housing, mental 
health supports, physical health and their financial 
entitlements and requirements.

Lastly, and most importantly, my role is to build strong 
and enduring relationships with the people I work with 
and be a consistent presence in their lives.’

Daniel Keogh, Focus Ireland Aftercare Worker, Dublin

 Tusla’s new national Aftercare Framework is based on legislation  

 which reflects years of Focus Ireland advocacy. 
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Challenging  
youth homelessness

Focus Ireland’s work in services was 
supported by our advocacy work, as 
part of the Irish Coalition to End Youth 
Homelessness. In June 2019, Focus Ireland 
was Body & Soul Festival’s 10th anniversary 
charity partner. At the festival, we launched 
our #EndYouthHomelessness campaign 
calling on the government to introduce 
a specific youth homelessness strategy. 
The #EndYouthHomelessness campaign 
received significant support from the Union 
of Students in Ireland, Love Sensation 
Festival, Mother, BeLonG To Youth Services 
and Dublin Flea Market. Focus Ireland and a 
group of supporters delivered a petition with 
over 10,700 signatures calling on all political 
parties to include a commitment to a national 
youth homeless strategy in their manifestos 
for the General Election. On 3 October, 
outside Leinster House, the petition was 
delivered to the Children and Youth Affairs 
spokespersons of all the political parties.

Focus Ireland was nominated to a 
position on the advisory committee for Better 
Outcomes, Brighter Futures: The National 
Policy Framework for Children and Young 
People. This provides a stronger emphasis on 
measures to tackle youth homelessness.

Focus Ireland’s Annual National Conference 
was held in October 2019 on the theme of 
Ending Youth Homelessness – Practice, Policy 
and Campaigning. The conference was 
opened by Dillon Nolan, a Master of Social 
Work student who has lived experience of 
residential care and housing insecurity. Dillon 
was previously supported by Focus Ireland and 
went on to secure his own home. The Focus 
Ireland conference heard from national and 
international speakers who delved deep into our 
understanding of youth homelessness and what 
solutions are on offer. This included conference 
keynote speaker Dr Paula Mayock, School of 
Social Work and Social Policy, Trinity College 
Dublin. The conference also included Kate 
Polson, CEO of the Rock Trust, who outlined how 
their organisation’s Housing First work is helping 
to tackle youth homelessness in Scotland.

Focus Ireland delivers a 
petition signed by over 
10,700 people calling 
for a National Youth 
Homeless Strategy in 
September 2019.
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Focus Ireland Youth Housing Service 
started working with Johnny* when 
he was 18 years old. Until he turned 
18, Johnny was living in residential 
care. He had no family support. 
When he turned 18, he had no option 
other than to move out of residential 
care into homeless emergency 
accommodation in the city. Since 
that time, Johnny has engaged well 
with the youth housing programme 
and has engaged in various forms of 
training, education and employment. 

In 2019, having worked with the 
service for nearly three years, 
Johnny moved into one of our 
Tusla/CAS properties. This will be 
his long-term home. Johnny still 
requires support. He is continuing 
to develop his independent living 
skills and is working on his personal 
development. The stability of 
having his own home has enabled 
Johnny to do this. It is this stability 
that makes such a significant 
difference in a young person’s life.

Limerick Youth Housing:  
Johnny’s story

 When he turned 18, he had  

 no option other than to  

 move out of residential care  

 into homeless emergency  

 accommodation in the city. 
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 2019: 
 We worked with 

 425 people 
 in our Education services in 
 Dublin, Waterford and Limerick. 
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These people can get trapped and lost in the 
system. This makes their situation worse – unless 
there is a targeted response to help them.

It has always been a central part of the 
Focus Ireland mission to respond to the needs of 
people with complex problems. We have a long 
track record of pioneering a range of housing-
led approaches: long-term supported housing, 
tenancy sustainment and Housing First.

During 2019, Focus Ireland continued its 
work as one of Ireland’s leading providers of 
Housing First. Towards the end of 2019 we 
finished off our current involvement in Dublin 
Housing First, having provided approximately 
200 formerly homeless households with a secure 
home over our five-year involvement. During 
the year, we started work with local authorities 

in Cork, Limerick, Waterford, Wexford, Carlow, 
Tipperary and Kilkenny to provide Housing First 
programmes as part of the national Housing 
First strategy. Housing First services in Cork and 
the South East are delivered in partnership with 
the Simon Community.

Housing First differs from traditional 
approaches: rather than offering a bed in a 
treatment facility or a hostel, we work to provide 
an appropriate long-term housing solution with 
support. In 2019, we supported approximately 
50 people in our Housing First programmes. 
Our Housing First teams support entrenched 
rough sleepers and long-term emergency 
accommodation users to move into a new home, 
and sustain their tenancy through the provision 
of ongoing, time-unlimited, intensive support.

Single people with  
complex needs
People with complex mental health, addiction and 
behavioural challenges have always been at an increased risk 
of homelessness. As the housing crisis has deepened, more 
people dealing with these issues are becoming homeless.

Facing page: Artwork by a 
student of Focus Ireland’s 
PETE Art and Design 
course

Focus on: 
PETE
Housing is essential, but it is not the only thing needed to help people  
leave homelessness behind for good. People also need access to education, 
training and employment to help build confidence and gain skills to enable 
them to remain in their homes. Our Preparation for Education, Training and 
Employment (PETE) provides a number of accredited courses at QQI level 
3 and a high range of non-accredited courses to suit every level. In 2019, 
we worked with 425 people in our PETE services in Dublin, Waterford and 
Limerick. Thank you to ReThink Ireland (formerly the Social Innovation Fund 
of Ireland) for their continued support of PETE. In 2019 we collaborated in 
our third year of partnership on this project.
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 Focus Ireland played a key role in developing  
 the Housing First Hub’s highly regarded  
 training programme, and in exploring best  
 practice in Housing First for Youth. 
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Challenging homelessness  
for single people with  
complex needs

Focus Ireland also continued to chair the 
European Housing First Hub, which is based 
in Helsinki and draws on the success of the 
Finnish approach to ending homelessness 
and to promote high-fidelity Housing First 

across the EU. Focus Ireland played a key role 
in developing the Housing First Hub’s highly 
regarded training programme, and in exploring 
best practice in Housing First for Youth. Focus 
Ireland made this work available to other 
homeless organisations in Ireland via the 
Irish Housing First platform. Here, we share 
best practice on Housing First across all the 
voluntary and statutory sectors.

Focus on: 
The Coffee Shop
The Focus Ireland Coffee Shop 
in Dublin is where Focus Ireland 
began, and it continues to be a first 
point of contact for people who 
are homeless in Dublin. Like all 
Focus Ireland services, the primary 
objective of the Coffee Shop is to 
prevent homelessness or support 
people into secure homes. The 
service also helps people deal with 
the crisis of homelessness, and in 
2019 the Coffee Shop served over 
47,000 inexpensive, nutritious 
meals. Advice & Information 
services are provided by our 
own staff, who also deal with the 
thousands of queries we receive online. Where more complex legal issues 
arise, there are weekly clinics and follow-up legal representation through 
an innovative partnership with A&L Goodbody and Mercy Law Resource 
Centre, which was supported and facilitated by the Public Interest Law 
Alliance. In April 2019 we published a full report on the service: Housing 
Rights & Homelessness: Lessons from a Pro Bono Partnership (available at 
https://bit.ly/2Qb73X7). We also facilitated a well-attended workshop on 
the model at the FEANTSA Policy Conference in Porto, Portugal.

‘My main role is managing the catering teams at the Coffee Shop and our 
new Family Centre, which includes ensuring all food safety and hygiene 
standards are adhered to. We are held to the same standard as any 
commercial kitchen and we take pride in the fact that we go above and 
beyond regarding food safety and food quality for our customers.’

Alison Cullen, Focus Ireland Coffee Shop and Family Centre
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 ‘Focus Ireland saved my life and gave me  
 a chance I never had before.’ 
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Becoming homeless
I’m from Carlow and many years ago I thought 
I was moving to a better life down the country; 
however, my life took a turn for the worse. I 
suffered domestic violence and ended up in 
hospital where, thankfully, my daughter was 
able to help me.

I came back to Carlow as I had nowhere else 
to go and, luckily, I was able to stay with my 
sister. At that time, life was getting too much. I 
was battling mental health problems. Eventually, 
I had to leave my sister’s house after staying 
with her for three months. I was now homeless.

I made contact with the council and that’s 
when things began to change. The council 
knew that I was well behaved and had never 
committed a crime. I had pictures to show 
them the domestic abuse I had experienced, 
but I didn’t need the pictures as they knew I 
was genuine and homeless. At that time, my 
mental health was so bad that I was actually 
suicidal. I have previously lost two brothers 
to suicide, and 14 years ago my son died of a 
drug overdose. I’ve been through a lot.

I ended up in a lovely B&B in Carlow. The 
people there were so nice but then I went to 
a hotel with people who had lots of problems 
and I was put on blood pressure tablets as a 
result of the stress. Again, my mental health 
suffered and again suicide seemed like an 
option. My daughter would often come to the 
hotel to check if I was still alive. It was the 
lowest point of my life. I felt I had nothing to 
offer anybody. I thought I was useless and no 
good as a mother. All this time, my son and 
daughter were really supportive of me but had 
their own families so I couldn’t live with them.

Focus Ireland came into my life
Then Focus Ireland came into my life. I’d 
never heard of them before. I was asked to 
go to an interview where I met the support 
worker with my daughter, and I explained 
everything I had been through. They listened 
to every word I said and they were great. Lo 
and behold, not long after that first meeting, 
I got a phone call from Focus Ireland saying 
I got a place! I was over the moon – literally 
shaking with disbelief!

When I first saw my new home, I couldn’t 
believe it. I looked out the windows and said 
to my daughter: ‘Is this really my home?’ 
There was a time I thought I would never live 
again. And then I moved into this beautiful 
place just two days before my fiftieth 
birthday, and right before Christmas. It’s the 
best present I ever got. From that day, my life 
changed for the better.

Focus Ireland saved my life and gave me 
a chance I never had before. I now have a 
support worker and can pick up the phone to 
her any time and tell her about my troubles. I 
wrote a letter to my support worker just to say 
thank you to Focus Ireland for giving me a life.

Growing up in the Traveller community, we 
weren’t allowed to speak about certain things – 
but I trust Focus Ireland with my life.

All I ever wanted was to have a home, but 
this is something I could never have dreamed of 
when I was younger because I couldn’t afford 
it. My kids now look at me and say: ‘Mam, 
you have turned your life around since you 
got involved with Focus Ireland.’ My children 
now have a home to come to, and so do my 
grandchildren. I couldn’t be happier.

Julie’s story
Julie* is a member of the settled Traveller community who 
has battled mental health problems and suicidal thoughts. 
Julie tells the story of how Focus Ireland helped give her life 
a new chance through the Housing First scheme.

 My kids now look  

 at me and say:  

 ‘Mam, you have  

 turned your life  

 around since you  

 got involved with  

 Focus Ireland.’ 
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 For Housing First tenants, gradually their  
 experience of homelessness becomes a  
 chapter in their past. 
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Housing First: Limerick 

Housing First Limerick works with people who 
have experienced long-term homelessness 
and who have complex support needs. It offers 
people a tenancy with the wraparound health 
supports and connections to community 
supports that are needed to ensure people 
maintain their housing and improve their 
overall health and wellbeing.

Housing First Limerick is part of the National 
Housing First strategy and is a partnership 
between HSE Midwest Community Healthcare, 
Limerick City and County Council and Focus 
Ireland. The project will operate over a three-
year period. It offers long-term accommodation 
to 30 individuals who, up to now, have 
experienced long-term homelessness. Limerick 
City Council and Focus Ireland aim to source 
30 units of housing over this three-year period 
– and 14 properties have already been sourced. 
Properties have been acquired through local 
authorities, long-term leasing, the social rental 
model and Capital Acquisition Scheme (CAS).

This project began in February 2019 – and 
the first customer took up their tenancy that 
very month. The Housing First Team initially 
comprised an Assistant Project Leader, a 
Dual Diagnosis Worker and a Project Worker, 
all under the guidance of a Project Leader 
employed through Focus Ireland. In October 
2019, the team was widened to include a HSE 
Health Coordinator employed directly by 
the HSE. Limerick City and County Council 
give excellent ongoing and strategic support 
through the Coordinator of Homeless Services. 
All three agencies work in a collaborative and 
supportive manner to address any issues that 
arise in the course of the project.

By the end of 2019, Limerick Housing First 
was successfully providing a permanent, safe 
and secure home to 9 individuals across the 
City and County. The tenants are men and 
women with an age range of 23–63 years old. 
Our staff are trained through the European 
Housing First Hub training programme, 
which Focus Ireland helped to design. Staff 
provide vital day-to-day intensive supports to 
customers to help them manage their home, 
health and wellbeing. With the support of the 
HSE Health Coordinator, Focus Ireland staff 
continually develop links with well-established 
Primary Care Teams, Mental Health 
Services, Addiction Services and Community 
Organisations in Limerick. This is vital to the 
long-term success of these tenancies, as 
Housing First tenants are gradually introduced 
to mainstream services, which reduces their 
reliance on the Housing First team. In the 
long-term, tenants can rely on mainstream 
local supports as they settle in their new home 
and community. For Housing First tenants, 
gradually their experience of homelessness 
becomes a chapter in their past.

Housing First
Housing First differs from traditional approaches: rather than offering a 
bed in a treatment facility or a hostel, we work to provide an appropriate 
long-term housing solution with support. Housing First recognises that 
people with experience of entrenched homelessness and rough sleeping 
need to be supported into a home without any pre-conditions around 
mental health or addiction treatment in order to exit homelessness.

Focus Ireland’s Housing 
First team in Limerick 
(L–R): Kate McGrath, 
Rebecca O’Donoghue, 
Mairead Cummane, 
Jerry Leo
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Housing First: South East

Focus Ireland has delivered its housing-led 
approach to homelessness in Waterford and 
the South East for many years. In 2019, as 
part of the national Housing First strategy, we 
developed a refined partnership approach, 
working closely with the Simon Community and 
the Good Shepherd to provide a full Housing 
First service in local authorities in the South East 
from summer 2019. The regional service includes 
Kilkenny, Wexford, Waterford, South Tipperary 
and Carlow. By the end of 2019, our partnership 
teams in each area have identified a total of 
84 people to avail of the service.

Housing First training in the region, using 
the European Housing First Hub programme, is 
planned for the new year.

 In 2019, as part of the national Housing First  

 strategy, we developed a refined partnership  

 approach, working closely with the Simon  

 Community and the Good Shepherd to provide  

 a full Housing First service in local authorities  

 in the South East from summer 2019. 

Focus on: 
Advice & Information
Our Advice & Information services straddle both 
prevention and sustained exits – in line with Focus 
Ireland’s strategy. Our A&I team offer much needed 
support and guidance to anyone with a housing or 
homelessness query. In 2019, our team provided 
support to over 5,000 customers, the majority 
of whom were homeless and in need of support 
to exit homelessness. Customers sought support 
to navigate the homelessness system and access 
emergency accommodation, as well as information 
and advocacy around housing supports and social 
welfare. We worked with 471 people through our 
A&I Prevention Case Management service in 2019, 
to support them in maintaining their home.

‘Our Advice & Information service is open to 
anyone. Many of the calls we get are in relation to dealing with landlords or 
eviction notices. Other calls relate to looking for accommodation. We will make 
referrals to other services, point people in the right direction or provide direct 
support to people with filling applications and finding accommodation. I attend 
lots of meetings, which gives us the opportunity to advocate for our customers 
and to ensure that they have the best move-on option for their circumstances.’

Julie Talbot, Focus Ireland Advice & Information, Limerick and Tipperary North
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 2019: 
 Our A&I team provided support to over 

 5,000 customers, 
 the majority of whom were homeless 
 and in need of support to exit homelessness. 
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 2019: 
 Focus Housing Association delivered 

 99 new homes 
 for rent to people moving out of 
 or at risk of homelessness. 
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New homes

In 2019, Focus Housing Association – the 
Approved Housing Body which is the property 
arm of Focus Ireland – delivered an additional 
99 new homes for rent to people moving out 
of or at risk of homelessness. Focus Ireland 
itself provided the necessary supports to these 
tenants to help them sustain the tenancy and 
move on with their lives.

The new housing was delivered through 
a mixture of acquisitions, long-term and 
short-term leases and rentals. This brings to 
594 the number of homes that Focus Ireland 
has provided in the last four years.

Not all the new units become part of our 
own long-term housing stock, as one model we 
successfully use is to sub-let a property from 
a private landlord and then rent the property 
to a person moving out of homelessness. This 
social rental model reduces the risk to the 
landlord and to the tenant, and has proven 
highly effective, particularly in the South West. 

After the tenant is settled, they take on the lease 
agreement directly with the landlord and the 
unit is then no longer counted as part of Housing 
Association’s stock. Focus Ireland continues 
to provide support for as long as needed. The 
success of this model means that, over the years, 
our work in securing homes is not fully reflected 
in the overall growth of our stock. But since 
we are more concerned with ensuring people 
have homes of their own than building up a big 
portfolio ourselves, this fulfils our mission.

By the end of 2019, we were well on track to 
hitting our target of acquiring 750 homes by the 
end of 2020. Focus Housing Association stock 
comprised 1,042 homes. We owned, leased or 
managed homes in Dublin City Council, Dún 
Laoghaire-Rathdown County Council, South 
Dublin County Council, Fingal County Council 
and in counties Kildare, Carlow, Wexford, 
Kilkenny, Waterford, Cork, Limerick, Clare, 
Sligo and Tipperary. Focus Ireland provides 
tenancy support and other services as required 
to the tenants of all these homes.

Focus Housing Association
An adequate supply of social housing is vital if we are to provide 
sustained exits out of homelessness. The delivery of housing 
remains a core part of our strategy and is a cornerstone in our 
work of challenging homelessness and changing lives.

‘For myself, the real feel-good moment has to be on move-in days, 
when I get to hand over the keys. When you see the joy in people’s 
eyes and their smiles, it never fails to make my day!’

Anthony Daly, Focus Housing Association  
Property Management Officer, Dublin
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Grange Cohan, Co. Waterford

Grange Cohan in Waterford has been Focus 
Ireland’s flagship housing project in the South 
East for more than 20 years. It has provided 
high-quality homes to hundreds of vulnerable 
households over that time. In recent years, 
Focus Ireland developed a plan to bring the 
housing units up to contemporary standards 
of insulation and energy efficiency. In 2019, 
Minister of State for Training and Skills, 
John Halligan TD, formally launched the 
completed redevelopment. It involved a 
complete energy efficiency retrofitting of 

Grange Cohan. The project was supported 
by the SEAI Community Fund, and Bord Gáis 
Energy, who were our energy partners during 
the redevelopment. The redevelopment 
includes new doors and windows, cavity 
insulation, new air-to-water heat pumps, LED 
lighting and new solid fuel stoves in 68 units. 
Lighting and heating upgrades were also 
carried out in the crèche and office areas of 
the Grange Cohan estate. It is hoped that the 
redevelopment will go a long way towards 
improving our residents’ comfort, utility costs 
and energy efficiency, as well as reinforcing 
pride in the estate.

Improving housing quality

Focus Housing Association is committed to a rolling programme of upgrading 
its housing. In 2019 we continued to avail of the SEAI Community Fund. 
In addition to the Grange Cohan project in Waterford, energy efficiency 
retrofitting projects were undertaken in Dublin and in Douglas, Cork. As well as 
improving energy efficiency, these projects have had a very positive impact on 
our tenants’ comfort in their homes and has reduced their utility costs.

Focus Ireland’s 
Grange Cohan estate 
in Waterford: before 
(inset) and after the 
complete energy 
efficiency retrofitting
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What happens after people leave homelessness?

Providing a home is the first step in supporting families or individuals leaving 
homelessness. However, ongoing tenancy sustainment support can be vital to help 
people sustain their tenancy and avoid re-entering homelessness. Focus Ireland 
provides tenancy support services for Focus Housing Association around the country 
to support vulnerable people to live independently in their new homes. As well as 
tenancy sustainment support, we work with our tenants to address their specific 
needs and goals by connecting them with education, training and employment 
support services, including specialist services run by Focus Ireland.

‘This year is the start of my third year living in a property with Focus 
Housing Association. I first started painting at age 21, as I found it positively 
benefited my mental health. Focus took this into account when they were 
allocating a property for me. Now I can paint in my own home.’

Seán*, Kildare Housing

Artworks by Seán*, Kildare Housing 
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Paul’s story

 ‘Without Focus Ireland in my life, I would be in the gutter.  
 Instead, I have a beautiful home, and my son and I can  
 start planning for our future.’ 
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Paul* (50) lives in a Focus Housing 
Association property in Dublin City Centre 
with his son James* (14) and receives visiting 
support from Focus Ireland’s Dublin Offsite 
Housing Support team.

I am the youngest child from a large 
Midlands family. Growing up as the youngest, 
I was spoiled by my siblings and parents. I 
had a very happy childhood; however, when I 
was 16, my mother died and my life was never 
the same again. Three weeks after my mother 
died, I took the boat to England and worked on 
building sites and drank in the evening, which 
eventually led to an addiction. Within a few 
months, I was back home and in the first of 
many detox admissions.

Eventually, I returned to Dublin and was 
working on sites around the city and also 
battling my alcoholism. I ended up losing my job 
and home and finally ended up in emergency 
homeless accommodation. I entered detox 
for the last time and, after going through this 
programme, I was offered a place in Focus 
Ireland temporary supported accommodation 
in George’s Hill. I then got my own long-term 
one-bedroom home with visiting support from 
Focus Ireland.

During this period, I had a son but the 
relationship with his mother was volatile 
because of her ongoing drug issues. Eventually, 
we split up – and I lost access to my son. When 
my son was 11, he contacted me because his 
home life was very chaotic and he wanted to 
come live with me. I was eventually granted 
full custody of my son, but my home was 
unsuitable and too small for the two of us. I 
gave up my bedroom for my son and started 
sleeping on the sofa in the sitting room.

When my son came to live with me, he 
was very withdrawn and was displaying signs 
of the emotional trauma and chaos he had 
experienced during his life. My Focus Ireland 
support worker referred my son to counselling 
and play therapy, and I was able to offer my son 
the stable life he needed. During this time, I was 
feeling overwhelmed and stopped caring for 
myself, as my housing situation was affecting 

both my mental health and physical health. I 
continued to maintain a good routine for my 
son, but it was clear to me that the unsuitability 
of the accommodation was impacting on the 
wellbeing of both of us.

In November 2019, I finally got the call that 
Focus Ireland could offer us a two-bedroom 
apartment in a small, quiet block near where we 
lived. We moved in here just before Christmas.

The changes in our lives have been so 
massively positive since moving here. For the 
first time in years, I feel at peace. My whole 
demeanour has changed and I don’t lose 
my temper as much. My son has completed 
counselling and is thriving in his transition to 
secondary school. He has had friends come 
to visit with us and has been able to have 
sleepovers for the first time in his life.

Now we are settled in our new home, 
I feel ready to start looking for work. My 
physical health is not great, so I know I 
can’t return to building sites. I’ve been 
referred to Focus Ireland PETE (Preparation 
for Education, Training and Employment) 
service, and will work with them to prepare 
a CV, do some training courses and apply for 
jobs. The future is looking much brighter.

I want to share my story – not just as a 
warning, but also to give hope to others who 
may be battling an addiction or may be in 
despair. I am now in my own family home 
and, for the first time, I am at peace. Thirty 
years ago, I never would have imagined that I 
could have ended up homeless. I came from a 
good family with a strong work ethic, but my 
mother’s death sent me into a spiral of self-
destruction. I credit Focus Ireland for doing 
Trojan work and for helping people up when 
they’ve fallen down with their struggles. Focus 
Ireland have always been there to support me 
and have pushed for the best for me. Without 
Focus Ireland in my life, I would be in the 
gutter. Instead, I have a beautiful home, and 
my son and I can start planning for our future.

Thank you to Focus Ireland and everyone 
who supports them.

 My son always wanted to learn the piano and I surprised  

 him with a small piano for his birthday. He is hoping to start  

 taking lessons soon. We never would have had the space or  

 peace for this in our last apartment. 
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John’s Lane West

In May 2019 the Minister for Housing, Eoghan 
Murphy TD, officially launched our brand-
new housing development at John’s Lane 
West, Dublin 8. This development is the most 
tangible manifestation of our long-term vision 
and strategy, which is focused on prevention 
and providing people with a sustained exit 
from homeless.

The site, which was purchased by Focus 
Ireland over 20 years ago, had previously 
provided youth services, food services and, 
for a few years, emergency hostel beds. But 
it had always been the intention that it would 
deliver permanent homes for people who had 
experienced homelessness or were at risk.

The development now provides 31 
permanent homes for families and individuals. 

John’s Lane West is a ‘bricks and mortar’ 
manifestation of our belief that it is better to 
provide homes than emergency beds. The 
apartment building was designed to ensure 
that each home has its own front door. This 
is not only a great design: it also means so 
much to people who have been homeless – 
or moving from place to place for many years 
at risk of becoming homeless – to have a 
place that is truly their own. The people living 
in our new development are supported to 
live independently by Focus Ireland tenancy 
sustainment support workers.

John’s Lane West was built with the 
support of the Department of Housing and 
Dublin City Council, as well as financial 
support from the Housing Finance Agency 
and assistance from generous donors to 
Focus Ireland.

Pat Dennigan, Sr Stan and 
the Minister for Housing, 
Eoghan Murphy TD, at 
the launch of John’s Lane 
West in May 2019
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John’s Lane West: Winner of Best Social Housing 2019

The Community  Housing Awards is a biennial competition run by the Irish Council 
of Social Housing. The competition celebrates excellence within the social housing 
sector and highlights exceptional housing quality, innovation and partnership.

At the 2019 Community Housing Awards, Focus Housing Association won two 
awards – Best Homeless Housing Award and Overall Winner – for our innovative 
John’s Lane West development. It was wonderful that our efforts were recognised, 
and that our vision for John’s Lane West was independently evaluated and awarded.

The most important thing is that our new development has ended homelessness 
for 31 households who now have a place to call home.
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Focus Ireland research

 > Brighter Futures for Careleavers –  
A Consultation on Outcomes and Aftercare  
for Young People Leaving Care in Ireland 
(Dixon, Ward and Stein 2019) 
https://www.focusireland.ie/wp-content/
uploads/2019/07/Dixon-et-al-2019-Brighter-
Futures-for-Careleavers-Report-Full-PDF.pdf

 > Housing Rights & Homelessness:  
Lessons from a Pro Bono Partnership  
(A&L Goodbody, Mercy Law Resource Centre 
and Public Interest Law Alliance, 2019) 
https://www.focusireland.ie/wp-content/
uploads/2019/04/Housing-Rights-
Homelessness_web.pdf 

 > Family Homelessness in Dublin: Causes, 
Housing Histories, and Finding a Home  
(Long, Sheridan, Gambi and Hoey, 2019) 
https://www.focusireland.ie/wp-content/
uploads/2019/06/Long-et-al-2019-Insights-
Vol-2-No-1-Family-Homelessness-in-
Dublin-–-Full-Report.pdf 

 > Homelessness in the Classroom – A Resource 
for Primary Schools (Focus Ireland, Irish 
National Teachers’ Organisation, 2019)  
https://www.focusireland.ie/wp-content/
uploads/2019/08/Homelessness-in-the-
Classroom.pdf 

Focus Ireland submissions

 > Submission to the Department of Housing, 
Planning and Local Government –  
Public Consultation on Proposals to 
Modernise the Electoral Registration Process 
(Focus Ireland, 2019) 
https://www.focusireland.ie/wp-content/
uploads/2019/03/Electoral-Registration-
Submission.pdf 

 > Establishing Guidelines for Local Authority 
Staff Responding to Families Who are 
Homeless (Focus Ireland, 2019) 
https://www.focusireland.ie/wp-content/
uploads/2019/05/Guidelines-on-supporting-
homeless-families.pdf 

 > Delivering on Social Housing: What 
Councillors Can Do (Focus Ireland, 2019) 
https://www.focusireland.ie/wp-content/
uploads/2019/05/Delivering-on-Social-
Housing-What-Councillors-Can-Do.pdf 

 > Focus Ireland Submission to the Joint 
Committee on Housing, Planning and Local 
Government: Family & Child Homelessness 
(Focus Ireland, 2019) 
https://www.focusireland.ie/wp-content/
uploads/2019/06/Focus-Ireland-Submission-
to-Committee-on-Housing-June-19.pdf 

 > Focus Ireland Response to Office of the 
Children’s Ombudsman report  
No Place Like Home (Focus Ireland, 2019) 
https://www.focusireland.ie/wp-content/
uploads/2019/06/Focus-Ireland-response-
to-OCO-Report-to-Oireactas-Committee-
on-the-Family.pdf

 > Proposal for a commission on housing: 
Commission on Housing in Ireland  
(Focus Ireland et al., 2019) 
https://www.focusireland.ie/wp-content/
uploads/2019/06/Commission-on-Housing.pdf 

 > Recommendations to Government:  
Budget 2020 (Focus Ireland, 2019) 
https://www.focusireland.ie/wp-content/
uploads/2019/09/Budget-2020-Policy-
Document.pdf

Research and submissions
Focus Ireland’s research supports and informs our organisation’s 
provision of housing and services to out-of-home people, and it also 
strengthens our work in lobbying, campaigning, policy and education.
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 2019: 87c 
 of every euro received was spent directly 
 on our services to combat and 
 prevent homelessness. 
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Principal activities and objectives
Focus Ireland is principally concerned with 
preventing homelessness and with the 
provision of support services to people who 
are homeless, as well as providing homes to 
secure their exit out of homelessness.

Focus Housing Association CLG (‘Focus 
Housing’) is an Approved Housing Body 
with the Department of Housing, Planning, 
Community and Local Government and has 

attained certified body status with the Housing 
Finance Agency providing accommodation in 
Dublin, Waterford, Limerick, Cork, Tipperary, 
Clare, Sligo and Kilkenny.

The Caretakers Project CLG (‘Caretakers 
Project’) is a joint venture, with the 
membership split equally between Focus 
Ireland and St Vincent de Paul, and it provides 
overnight accommodation, support and case 
management to young people in Dublin.

Directors’ report
The directors present their annual report together with the audited 
financial statements of the Company and of its subsidiaries together 
‘the Group’, for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

About Focus Ireland

Founded in 1985 by Sr Stanislaus Kennedy, Focus Ireland is a housing and 
homeless charity that works to prevent people becoming or remaining 
homeless, or returning to homelessness, through the provision of  
quality services, supported housing, research and advocacy.

Mission

We are driven by the fundamental belief that homelessness is wrong. 

Wrong because it is a failure of society that creates victims out of ordinary 
people and robs them of their potential. Wrong because it can be prevented, it 
can be solved, but is allowed to continue and in doing so undermines society. 

We need to challenge our society to think and act differently. We are 
committed to challenging everything about homelessness; the causes, 
systemic failures, people’s perceptions and how it is tackled.

And we challenge ourselves in how we allocate resources to maximise 
our ability to prevent people from falling into homelessness and to help 
people find and keep a home.

Homelessness is wrong and we have to make that felt in everything  
we do and say.
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Their financial statements consolidate the 
results of Focus Ireland CLG and its subsidiary, 
Focus Housing Association, and Joint Venture, 
The Caretakers Project.

Focus Housing became a Subsidiary 
of Focus Ireland in 1998. Since then 
consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared. During 2019, Focus Housing 
Association underwent a change to the 
current governance structure. On the 
recommendation of the Housing Regulator, 
a separate Board of Directors for this 
organisation was set up. This Board is made 
up of 9 members, 4 of which sit on the Focus 

Ireland Board. This ensures that while Focus 
Housing Association remains independent, 
there is a sufficient representative from 
Focus Ireland to ensure the two organisations 
continue to work for a shared objective.

During 2016, Focus Housing acquired 
Excellent Common Areas Owner Management 
Limited, which is a dormant company.

The Caretakers Project is treated as a 
Joint Venture and the full financial results of 
the Company are incorporated in the Group 
financial statements as the Group has control 
of the management and administration of all 
the financial activities of the entity.

Focus Housing Association CLG
Registered no: 133953

Revenue registered charity no: CHY 9040
CRA registered charity no: 20022624

The Caretakers Project CLG
Registered no: 369456

Revenue registered charity no: CHY 15489
CRA registered charity no: 20053604

Excellent Common Areas Owner 
Management Limited (Dormant)

Registered no: 542081

Focus Ireland CLG
Registered no: 106149

Revenue registered charity no: CHY 7220
CRA registered charity no: 20015107

Organisational structure
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Governing document
Focus Ireland is a charitable company 
limited by guarantee, incorporated under the 
Companies Act.

Each organisation is governed by their 
constitution, which was last amended at the 
AGM in June 2019. The changes related to the 
updated governance structure of the group.

In compliance with Financial Reporting 
Standard 102, the company as a registered 
charity and public benefit entity has adopted 
the Statement of Recommended Practices 
(SORP): Accounting and Reporting by 
Charities 2015, as issued by the Charities 
Commission (for England and Wales).

Relationships with other charities
Focus Ireland actively promotes partnership, 
working with statutory bodies and other 
charitable organisations in the provision of 
services and the pursuit of its advocacy goals. 
Examples of this work include participation in 
the Dublin Homeless Network and partnership 
work with local authorities and health services 
around the country in the Regional Homeless 
Forums. In addition, Focus Ireland has furthered 
its objectives through partnerships with other 
voluntary organisations, including St Vincent 
de Paul and The Peter McVerry Trust. As an 
example, Focus Ireland works closely with 
Peter McVerry on providing Support for Living 
Independently (SLI) service in Dublin. Focus 
Ireland is also a member of the Irish Council for 
Social Housing, the Charities Institute Ireland and 
FEANTSA (European network of organisations 
working with people who are homeless).

Values
Focus Ireland’s models for service provision 
are dictated by the needs of our customers. 
We believe that the quality of service delivery 
is as important as the kind of service we 
provide. There are nine primary values that 
underpin our models of service delivery, both 
to our staff and our customers:

 > Respect is about treating individuals equally 
and in a professional manner. Respect 
embraces the concepts of justice, fairness, 
equality and dignity. It upholds the human 
right and the diversity of all stakeholders. 
Respect demands honesty and clarity in our 
interactions with each other, with customers 
and with all stakeholders.

 > Safety is about providing a safe environment 
in which all stakeholders can feel safe and 
secure and welcomed in Focus Ireland. All 
employees have a responsibility to ensure 
their own safety as well as the safety of 
others. Safety is achieved in attending to 
the physical environment of all stakeholders 
and in engaging in a professional manner 
with people who are feeling vulnerable or 
who are behaving in ways that are unsafe for 
themselves and others.

 > Quality is about ensuring we provide 
customer-driven services that are 
professional, appropriate and addressing 
customer needs. We aim to provide a high 
standard of quality services designed using 
knowledge of best practice, research, 
policy and customer feedback. Our 
standards are measurable both internally 
and externally and they comply with all 
statutory standards and regulations.

 > Partnership is about partnering and 
cooperating with customers and with other 
organisations both voluntary and statutory 
in order to achieve our goal of preventing 
people becoming, remaining or returning 
to homelessness. Engaging in partnership 
processes both internally and externally 
enhances Focus Ireland’s capacity to 
deliver quality services and we recognise 
the contribution of different parties in 
working to a shared agenda with mutual 
benefits and responsibilities.

 > Accessibility is about facilitating access 
to relevant services for all customers in a 
practical and transparent manner. We aim for 
clarity, simplicity and minimal bureaucracy 
in our systems of engagement and access. 
The services we provide will be flexible 
in accommodating the changing needs of 
customers and tenants. We accept the need 
for review and change over time and we are 
committed to engage in consultation so that 
opinions of all stakeholders are heard.

 > Integration is about providing adequate 
resources and responses to facilitate our 
customers’ integration into society.
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 > Advocacy is about how we advocate 
on behalf of customers to ensure that 
appropriate services and housing are 
provided by networking and partnering 
with voluntary, statutory and community 
organisations. Integration is about the 
ultimate goal of our work – that our 
customers should be fully integrated into 
the fabric of society so that they can lead 
independent and fulfilling lives.

 > Empowerment is about enabling customers 
and employees to take initiative and 
make positive and informed choices. We 
are committed to assisting customers 
in managing their own lives so they can 
establish new relationships, build their self-
esteem and confidence, make independent 
decisions and decrease their dependence 

on other people and organisations. We are 
committed to employees to provide relevant 
information, supervision and training to 
support them in making their decisions 
about their career and practice.

 > Stewardship is about ensuring that we as 
employees are accountable and transparent 
in all our activities. We have quality 
procedures, policies and governance in 
place for all aspects of our work to ensure 
that we act in ways that ensure resources 
are appropriately used in the service of 
customers. We accept we are individually 
and organisationally accountable to all 
stakeholders and we are committed to 
behaving honestly and transparently in all 
our interactions and to seeking to achieve a 
high standard of work at all times.
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Focus remains on the two key pillars  
of this strategy:

 > Preventing homelessness and
 > Supporting people who are homeless to 
move on into secure homes.

Making sure that we can prevent homelessness 
before it happens is one of the most effective 
ways we can tackle this crisis. We aim to reach 
young people, adults and families who are 
facing homelessness early to ensure they have 
our support to keep the home they have.

Some people and families who become 
homeless can find their own route out, 

but many others require support in finding 
accommodation and support in holding on 
to their new home. The longer a person is 
homeless, the worse their personal problems 
can get – particularly mental or physical health 
problems or substance abuse. The sooner 
we can find a secure home for anyone facing 
homelessness, the better chance they have to 
reduce the damage caused by homelessness. 
We know that the right type of support to stay in 
your home gives you the best chance of staying 
out of homelessness for good.

Our achievements in 2019 in relation to each 
of our strategy goals is outlined below.

Achievements and performance

During the year, the organisation continued with the Strategy 2017–2020 
Challenging homelessness. Changing Lives.

Our four-year goals Progress made in 2019

Greater impact on 
prevention services

 > Supported 14,200 (2018: 15,500) people through our services in 2019.*

 > In 2019 the Advice & Information service continued an intensive case 
management feature to those customers who required an extended 
period of engagement to prevent them from becoming homeless. Nearly 
470 (2018: 450) customers engaged with this feature during 2019.

 > 2,600 (2018: 3,200) customers in danger of losing their home accessed 
the Advice & Information service in that period.

Add 600 homes to our 
housing stock by the end of 
2020 though Focus Housing 
Association CLG

 > Provided an additional 99 units (2018: 176) to our housing stock in 2019. 
53 through acquisitions and 46 leases or managed properties. These 
strengthened our commitment to providing homes for customers and 
helping them with a pathway to exit homelessness.

 > The loss of the Housing First tender in Dublin and the termination of 
leases that came to their natural end has meant that a significant number 
(180) of properties had to be transferred out of our portfolio.

 > As at 31 December 2019, the organisation has 1,042 housing units.

Rebuild the cash reserves 
of the organisation to a 
13-week level by end 2018 
to ensure the sustainability 
and stability of its 
activities over the next 
three years

 > This objective was achieved earlier than expected, having reached 13 
weeks at the end of 2017. In 2019, the budgeted weekly cost of running 
the organisation increased to approx. €600k per week. This indicated 
that €7.8m in cash would be needed to achieve this objective. The 
organisation finished 2019 with €7.9m as our cash reserve balance. 
This has been integrally important in ensuring the organisation could 
continue to operate during the peak of the COVID-19 crisis. 

* As the housing and homelessness crisis reached a new phase, we responded to the increasing complexity of the 
situations faced by customers by deepening our engagement in each case. While this resulted in engagement with 
fewer customers than in 2018, it ensured greater impact in preventing homelessness or supporting sustained exit.
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Services
Focus Ireland supported over 14,200 (2018: 
15,500) people in 2019 through the provision 
of services in Dublin, Cork, Limerick, 
Waterford, Sligo, Wexford, Tipperary, Carlow, 
Kilkenny, Kildare, Clare and Monaghan. 
Our services are delivered in line with our 
strategy, which works to prevent people from 
becoming homeless or supports people to 
sustain an exit out of homelessness.

Prevention services
The long-term objective of the prevention 
strategy is to identify and help people who are 
in danger of losing their home. The key services 
delivered under prevention are:

 1. Advice & Information services
 2. Tenancy Sustainment Support services
 3. Youth services

There are numerous reasons why someone 
might be at risk of losing their home. 
Overcrowding, rising rent prices, family 
breakdown, leaving the care of the state, 
substance misuse and domestic abuse are 
just some such examples. Our staff members 
working in the services listed above try to reach 
people who are facing these situations early to 
ensure, where possible, they have our support 
to keep the home they have or secure other 
housing to avoid going into homeless services.

The aim of our Advice & Information 
services is two-fold – to prevent people 
becoming homeless and to support people 
who are already homeless to sustain an exit 
out of homelessness. Staff delivering our 
preventative Advice & Information services 
provide a variety of services, including support 
to the customer in accessing information, 
advice and advocacy, support with mediation 
and dispute resolution – all to ensure that the 
customer does not lose their home.

In 2019 the service continued with 
an intensive case management feature, 
specifically to support those customers who 
required an extended period of engagement 

to prevent them from becoming homeless. 
In 2019, 471 (2018: 450) customers engaged 
with this service specifically while, overall, 
approximately 2,600 (2018: 3,200) customers 
in danger of losing their home accessed the 
Advice & Information service in that period.

Like the Advice and Information service, 
Focus Ireland’s Tenancy Sustainment Support 
services straddle both strands of Focus Ireland’s 
strategy. In 2019, approx. 450 (2018: 500) 
households in danger of losing their homes 
were supported. Depending on the reasons that 
their tenancy was at risk, this support included 
assistance in practical home management 
(e.g. basic repairs, arrears management and 
debt counselling) and addressing anti-social 
behaviour (e.g. neighbour disputes and family 
relationships). Staff also supported customers 
with mental health/healthcare needs in 
accessing the relevant services that could 
support them to continue their tenancy, while 
at the same time building links with community 
and social networks in the local area to 
encourage integration and foster a sense of 
belonging in their community.

The final service grouping that comes 
under Focus Ireland’s prevention services 
are our Youth services, which work with 
young people who are leaving state care 
(having turned 18), as well as young people 
who have been identified as requiring 
support to transition to, and sustain, a 
home. A housing-led model is adopted 
whereby the young person is given access 
to housing with the commensurate levels of 
support and no preconditions. Key features 
of the service include:

 1. The development of flexible, individual 
support plans to support the transition of 
the young person into long-term housing 
and full independent living

 2.  Preparation for leaving care, in 
collaboration with Tusla

 3.  Social and community integration
 4.  Involving the young person in all 

assessments, planning, reviews and 
decision-making arrangements concerning 
their future rehousing and life plan.

In 2019, 425 (2018: 380) young people 
were supported as part of Focus Ireland’s 
Youth services. Of these young people, 
207 (2018: 206) were supported into youth 
housing or residential aftercare in 2019.

 Focus Ireland supported over 14,200 people in 2019  

 through the provision of services in Dublin, Cork,  

 Limerick, Waterford, Sligo, Wexford, Tipperary, Carlow,  

 Kilkenny, Kildare, Clare and Monaghan. 
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Services that sustain exits  
out of homelessness
Services falling under our Sustaining Exits 
category are those services that support people 
who are already homeless and need a sustained 
pathway out of homelessness. The services 
categorised under sustaining exits are:

 1. Advice & Information services
 2. Tenancy Sustainment Support services
 3. Housing services: long-term and short-term
 4. Day services

Our Advice & Information services, in 
addition to preventing people becoming 
homeless, also provide support to people who 
are already homeless. Staff provide a variety 
of supports to people, including support 
in accessing accommodation – emergency 
and long-term. Staff also provide support in 
accessing relevant information, advice and 
advocacy, as well as access to the wide range 
of services required – housing, social welfare, 
health, training, etc. Referrals to internal 
and external services will also be facilitated 
in an effort to move the customer along the 
pathway towards exiting homelessness.

In 2019, approximately 3,200 (2018: 3,000) 
customers were supported as part of this 
service, including 409 (2018: 357) households 
who were actively case managed.

Focus Ireland’s Tenancy Sustainment 
Support services also provide support in 
sourcing accommodation for those customers 
who are already homeless (sustaining exits).

Staff engage with these customers who 
may be living in emergency and temporary 
accommodation and require support in 
identifying, accessing and settling into new, 
long-term accommodation. Staff will support 
the customer when physically moving to their 
new accommodation, providing support in 
accessing household goods and appliances – 
and thereafter providing support and guidance 
in accessing the relevant suite of services that 
can support them to successfully settle into 
their new homes and communities. Services 
can include health, social welfare, budgeting, 
addiction, educational, training and childcare.

The Dublin Family Homeless Action Team 
forms part of this service grouping. In 2019 
alone, the team supported over 1,100 (2018: 900) 
families and over 2,400 (2018: 1,600) children 
who were homeless, successfully moving nearly 
425 (2018: 200) of these into a new home. 
Elsewhere, the other Tenancy Sustainment 
Support services supported over 700 (2018: 
500) households out of homelessness and into a 
home during the same period.

Long-term supported accommodation 
services provide quality accommodation and 
effective supports – on a long-term basis – to 
people who were homeless and who have 
specialised health, care and social support 
needs. At the same time, independent living 
principles are promoted whereby the tenant 
is supported to take control of their own lives 
and identify for themselves the supports that 
they require. In 2019 nearly 900 (2018: 760) 
households were supported as part of our 
long-term housing service.

Short-term accommodation services 
provide support for persons who are homeless 
and who have specialised health, care and 
support needs – or complex needs. All short-
term accommodation services operate on 
a 24/7 basis, 365 days a year, and provide 
a full suite of programmes and activities to 
tenants to meet their short-term/temporary 
accommodation and support needs.

The overarching aim of short-term 
accommodation services is to minimise the 
length of time spent homeless and to support 
the person to access housing with requisite 
supports as soon as possible after initial 
presentation to homeless services. Over 235 
(2018: 200) households were supported in 
Focus Ireland’s short-term accommodation 
services across the country in 2019.

Day services
Day services act as a point of contact for 
people experiencing homelessness to meet 
their primary needs in a timely and respectful 
way. Day services include:

 1. The Coffee Shop, which provides quality, 
affordable meals for homeless adults, 
families and children.

 2. Childcare (Dublin and Waterford)
 3. Homework and Education groups
 4. Employment, Education and 

Training programmes

In 2019, approx. 7,700 (2018: 9,600) customers 
accessed these services.

 Our Advice & Information services, in addition to preventing  

 people becoming homeless, also provide support to  

 people who are already homeless. Staff provide a variety  

 of supports to people, including support in accessing  

 accommodation – emergency and long-term. 

56 Focus Ireland Annual Report 2019



Advocacy, communications  
and research
Although the rate of increase in homelessness 
slowed down in 2019, the total number of 
people who were homeless continued to rise, 
particularly in towns and cities across the 
country. In the face of this, the Advocacy team 
continued its strategy of promoting evidence-
based policies, which will deliver lasting 
solutions. Our approach ensures these issues are 
kept firmly on the social and political agenda, 
as well as helping build public support for our 
work to end homelessness. Part of this work saw 
our annual national conference, held in Dublin’s 
RDS in September on the theme of Ending 
Youth Homelessness. Our conference was well 
attended and received good media coverage.

Housing and property
As part of our ongoing strategic commitment 
to increase our housing stock, we sourced a 
further 99 properties during the year through 
a mix of purchase and lease.

Our development in John’s Lane West, 
which consists of 31 properties, was the 
big winner in the 2019 Community Housing 

Awards, run by the Irish Council of Social 
Housing and sponsored by Allianz. Focus 
Housing won two awards – Best Homeless 
Housing Award and Overall Winner – in a 
year that saw the highest ever number of 
entries. In making the award, the panel said:

‘What stood out for the judges was the high-
quality design and excellent use of a very 
challenging site and the delivery of 31 units of 
permanent housing in an area of huge demand 
for housing and homeless services.’

The year also saw further use of the SEAI 
Community Fund, with energy efficiency 
retrofitting projects in Dublin and Douglas, 
Cork. This has had a positive impact on our 
tenants’ comfort and utility costs. It has also 
led to increased pride in the estate, with many 
tenants placing planters in their gardens.

The Property team also changed their 
Housing Management System in September 
2019 to Affinity. This has led to improvements 
in performance and in reporting capabilities, 
which has resulted in better and more 
focused asset and tenant management.

Neil Forsyth, Services 
Manager Focus Ireland; 
Stephen James Smith, 
Spoken Word Artist; and 
Avril Stanley, Founder of 
Body & Soul, at the launch 
of the ‘Couches Don’t 
Count’ campaign as part of 
our partnership with Body 
& Soul music festival 2019. 
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Recruitment
The HR team in Focus Ireland plays a strategic 
role in ensuring that the organisation attracts 
and retains qualified and experienced people 
to deliver a high-quality and professional 
service to customers. This is due to the 
rigorous recruitment standards in place, which 
attract and retain a high calibre of employees 
to deliver on our commitment to challenge 
homelessness and change lives.

A total of 153 roles were advertised during 
2019. The majority of these roles were filled, 
some of the advertised roles were closed, and 
18 carried over to 2020. There was significant 
interest in all the opportunities advertised, all of 
which provide excellent career development for 
employees. People also took transfer options to 
gain further knowledge, skills and experience 
in other projects and services. Focus Ireland 

has a very successful Community Service 
Volunteer (CSV) graduate programme and in 
2019, 14 graduates were hired to participate in 
a comprehensive trainee programme for social 
care workers to gain work experience and 
develop their career path.

Employee engagement
Our Engagement Champions have 
continued to facilitate sessions in all 
teams to assess people’s understanding of 
the organisational values and to identify 
initiatives to keep the values prominent. 
These sessions have been very positive, 
highlighting where the values are reflected 
in behaviours and in the work. Alongside 
this, our Engagement Champions are 
working towards embedding environmental 
initiatives across the organisation.

Employees and volunteers

Human resources – Investing in people

Focus Ireland’s Coffee 
Shop in Temple Bar
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Learning and development
Focus Ireland has a comprehensive learning and 
development programme for all employees. In 
2019, 117 training courses and learning events 
were organised for staff, and 1,026 participants 
attended. These learning opportunities provided 
staff with the required upskilling and refresher 
training to ensure a quality service is continually 
delivered to our customers. Some of this training 
included core modules in Therapeutic Crisis 
Intervention, Occupational First Aid, Child 
Protection and an introduction to the Children 
First E-learning Programme.

A new management development 
programme was introduced in September 2019, 
which provided our people managers with the 
opportunity to enhance their leadership skills. 
This accredited programme is expected to 
run until September 2020. In addition, a small 
number of staff were supported in their pursuits 
of further education in 2019.

Volunteers
Throughout 2019, volunteers have provided 
valuable support to the Coffee Shop floor and 
Advice & Information services across Dublin. 
There has been consistent volunteer support 
for the School Visit Ambassador role and the 
Befriender role. The Beloved shops continued 
to maintain regular support from volunteers 
across the country in 2019. At year end, the 
number of long-term volunteers involved 
in the organisation was 70. The Volunteer 
Coordinator received 268 applications for 
volunteer roles in 2019.

Work experience opportunities were also 
provided to 20 Transition Year students, which 
offered them an insight into both the frontline 
and support sides of the organisation.

Fundraising and marketing
Fundraising had an ambitious target in 2019 to 
generate income of €11.4m. Remarkably, the 
team managed to surpass this target to reach a 
high of €12.1m (2018: €11.40m) for the year.

The ‘Moving Day – Shine a Light’ campaign 
was launched on 30 September in partnership 
with Bord Gáis Energy. This was launched 
across multiple media platforms including TV, 
radio, print and billboards, with the intention 
of raising funds and shining a light on the 
homelessness issue in Ireland. The Shine a 
Light Sleepout event happened on 18 October, 
which saw over 180 business leaders sleep 
outside for one night in an effort to raise much 
needed funds for our work. This event was 
a huge success, which saw coverage from 
RTÉ’s The Late Late Show and various news 
channels. The impact of this campaign had 
a positive effect on our Christmas campaign 
and is one of the key reasons for our strong 
performance in fundraising.

Other significant events included The 
Radio Nova and Irish Rail Partnerships, the 
recruitment of an additional 1,801 regular 
givers, the launch of Ireland’s Great Get 
Together, The Big Rebel Sleepout and the 
Wexford Sleepout, and an unprecedented 
response to Christmas Jumper Days.

The team continued to expand in 2019 
to meet the growing financial needs of the 
organisation. Further expertise was added to 
the team in the area of major gifts, regular 
giving and digital marketing. Fundraising 
activity concentrated on building the regular 
giving base to ensure sustainability into the 
future. Fundraising and marketing systems 
were further enhanced with the refining of 
the CRM system.

Catherine O’Kelly, 
MD of Bord Gáis 
Energy; Sr Stan; 
Norah Casey, 
business leader and 
long-time supporter 
of Focus Ireland; and 
Pat Dennigan, CEO 
of Focus Ireland, 
taking part in ‘Shine 
a Light Night’ 2019. 

 Fundraising had an ambitious target in 2019 to  

 generate income of €11.4m. Remarkably, the team  

 managed to surpass this target to reach a high of  

 €12.1m (2018: €11.40m) for the year. 
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Fundraising activities included working with 
corporate partners, supporting those who 
choose to fundraise for us and organising 
national events and campaigns.

Each year the generosity of our supporters 
amazes us. Without them we simply could not 
do it. An additional 1,801 people (2018: 2,000) 
signed up to support Focus Ireland with a 
monthly direct debit donation in 2019.

In 2019 Focus Ireland also operated Beloved 
retail shops located in Malahide, Dublin and 
Douglas, Cork. The purpose of these stores was 
to help raise awareness and funds to support the 
work carried out by Focus Ireland.

Grant income increased by 6% over 2018 
levels and now accounts for 44% (2018: 46%) of 
total income. The increase in grants was driven 
by new Housing First services provided in South 
East, Limerick and Cork.

At Focus Ireland, we continued to deliver 
our housing programme in 2019: our property 
portfolio increased by over €13m in the year. 
During the year, 99 new housing units were 
acquired through various channels such as CAS, 
Housing Finance Agency, the private rented 
market and managed properties.

Reserves
In the past number of years, the organisation 
has focused on replenishing the cash reserves 
in order to ensure organisational stability and 
sustainability. In line with our strategy, we have 
worked to build up the cash reserves to a best 
practice level of 13 weeks’ reserves. The way 
the organisation calculates the level of reserves 
required is based on 13 times the budgeted 
weekly cost of running the organisation. The 
budgeted weekly cost for 2019 amounted to 
approx. €600k. The aim was to finish the year 
with approx. €7.8m (13 weeks). The cash balance 
at the 31 December 2019 was €7.9m.

Dividends and retention
The Group is precluded by its Memorandum of 
Association from paying dividends either as part 
of normal operations or on a distribution of its 
assets in the event of a winding-up.

Pensions
Focus Ireland operates a defined contribution 
scheme, open to all permanent staff. The 
Company contributions are 7% of pensionable 
salary, while employee contributions are 5% 
of pensionable salary. Focus Ireland made 
a commitment to phase out deducting the 
state pension from the staff gross salary when 
applying the contributions. Given the impact 
on the organisation’s cash reserve, this was 
done over a three-year period. From 1 January 
2020 all pension contributions are calculated 
on gross salary rather than pensionable salary, 
unless existing members opt out and choose 
to remain on pensionable salary calculation. 
This was an important step to help staff 
adequately provide for their future.

Financial review

The financial results for the year are set out in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Activities on page 81.

The surplus achieved in the year was mainly driven by the 
Fundraising income, which achieved a record high level.

 Each year the generosity of our supporters amazes us.  

 Without them we simply could not do it. An additional  

 1,801 people signed up to support Focus Ireland with  

 a monthly direct debit donation in 2019. 

Focus Ireland’s 
award-winning 
development at 
John’s Lane West 
in Dublin
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Health and safety

Health and Safety compliance and best 
practice is key to ensuring that employees and 
customers work and live in safe environments. 
The Health & Safety Officer provided support 
and advice to line management and their teams 
in relation to best practice and legislative 
compliance. The Health & Safety Committee 
completed safety inspections of all sites and 
also ran a number of events during the year. 
Events included several programmes during 
Health & Safety Week to highlight healthy 
eating/lifestyle, self-care and welfare, which 
are so important in supporting our employees.

Environment

The Group has a proactive approach to assisting 
all personnel to conduct our business in a 
manner that protects the environment of our 
customers, employees and the community.

Post balance sheet events

Coronavirus disease 2019 (Covid-19) is an 
infectious disease caused by severe acute 
respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (Sars-
CoV-2). The disease was first identified in 2019 
in Wuhan, the capital of China’s Hubei province, 
and has since spread globally, resulting in the 
ongoing coronavirus pandemic. The earliest 
known infection occurred on 17 November 
2019 in Wuhan, China. The World Health 
Organization (WHO) declared the 2019–20 
coronavirus outbreak a Public Health Emergency 
of International Concern (PHEIC) on 30 January 
2020 and a pandemic on 11 March 2020. From an 
accounting perspective, Covid-19 is considered 
to be a non-adjusting post balance sheet event.

We have considered the risks that 
coronavirus poses to the organisation and the 
actions we are taking to mitigate the impact. 
The disclosure implications of this post balance 
sheet event have been addressed in the risks 
and uncertainties note below.

Political contributions

There were no political contributions made by 
the Group during the financial year (2018: €Nil).

Principal risks  
and uncertainities

Focus Ireland operates a risk-management 
process culminating in a corporate risk register 
that identifies the top risks, their likelihood and 
impact, and the consequent actions necessary 
to manage them effectively. Corporate risks 
and mitigating actions are regularly scrutinised 
by the Board and executive team. The principal 
risks identified that could have a serious impact 
on performance are as follows.

Covid-19 risk
The first case of Covid-19 was reported in 
Ireland on 29 February 2020. Over the following 
weeks, actions were put in place to protect the 
health, safety and wellbeing of all citizens. The 
first of these measures which impacted the 
charity sector was on 12 March 2020, the day 
after the virus was declared a pandemic. The 
Taoiseach announced that all schools, colleges 
and childcare facilities were to remain closed 
until 29 March 2020. These measures have 
since been extended and further protection 
measures have been introduced to protect the 
most vulnerable in our society. The introduction 
of social distancing and the restrictions on social 
gatherings had an immediate effect on the 
sector. The pandemic has presented a unique 
challenge to the charity industry in 2020.

We have considered the risks that Covid-19 
poses to the organisation and the actions we are 
taking to mitigate the impact. Our priority is the 
safety and wellbeing of our staff and customers. 
As a result, the Focus Ireland offices were 
closed with effect from 27 March 2020 and staff 
were requested to work from home in line with 
government instructions. Fortunately, systems 
for remote working were already in place and 
it was a smooth transition. Focus Ireland has 
also been focused on continuing to support the 
increased needs of our customers. Focus Ireland 
is working closely with our funders, colleagues 
and customers to meet this challenge.

 We have considered the risks that coronavirus poses  

 to the organisation and the actions we are taking to  

 mitigate the impact. Our priority is the safety and  

 wellbeing of our staff and customers. 
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In response to this crisis, we have had to 
make a number of changes to our services:

 > Staff have been issued with and trained in 
the use of personal protective equipment to 
ensure their safety.

 > Additional staff were deployed to services 
who house our more vulnerable customers 
to increase monitoring and welfare checks 
on our customers.

 > Our Coffee Shop service, which provides hot 
meals to customers, had to implement strict 
social distancing guidelines and change to 
providing a takeaway service.

 > Face-to-face meetings with customers were 
replaced, where possible, by phone support.

 > Our education and training programme 
service was closed and staff were deployed 
to other areas of the organisation.

 > A new service was established in April 2020 
in conjunction with the HSE, comprising 16 
units over two properties in Dublin 8. This 
service provides vital cocooning services 
to vulnerable adults to protect against the 
contraction and spread of Covid-19.

 > Our Caretakers Hostel was converted to 
a 24/7 residential service.

This situation is clearly something which we 
have not encountered before. As a result, 
we have no experience of a similar crisis 
and therefore there is no way of predicting 
the full effect that Covid-19 will have on our 
organisation, our donors and our beneficiaries. 
Thus, we have made every effort to mitigate 
this uncertainty, including performing a 
thorough risk assessment and putting in 
place all arrangements to ensure the ongoing 
governance of the organisation.

We have considered the financial impact 
of Covid-19 and performed various scenario 
analyses. The Covid-19 lockdown and the 
subsequent social distancing restrictions are 
expected to have a negative impact on our 
income generation for the remainder of 2020.

 > Fundraising: At the start of this pandemic, we 
forecasted that our fundraising income would 
fall by up to 40% against our budget. As the 
majority of our services are not fully funded by 
the government, we are hugely reliant on our 
fundraising income. However, we have seen 
a significant level of support from both our 
public and corporate donors, which is helping 
to shield against some of that impact.

 > Retail: Our retail stores in Malahide, 
Dublin and Douglas, Cork were drastically 
impacted by their closure due to 
government restrictions imposed. As a 
result, the decision was made in May 2020 
to permanently close these stores, as they 
were no longer financially viable.

 > Rent: We also expect our rental income to 
be negatively affected to reflect the impact 
of Covid-19 on our tenants.

 > Grants: We have been working very 
closely with our state funders to keep them 
updated on any changes to the services 
they fund. We expect our grant income to 
remain steady during this period and this is 
reflected in our cash forecast.

We have also considered various measures 
we could take to control costs and conserve 
cash within the organisation. Reductions have 
been made to budgeted overheads in order 
to minimise effect on reserves. This includes 
availing of the government temporary wages 
subsidy scheme, reducing office and travel 
costs, and deferring major maintenance works 
to next year, where possible. We also availed 
of a payment break on our loans with Bank 
of Ireland in order to conserve cash. Based 
on our discussions with our various grant 
funders, we are hopeful that all incremental 
costs related to Covid-19 and associated with 
continuing our services during the pandemic 
will be funded, and our cash forecasts have 
assumed this to be the case.

Management are satisfied that the forecasts 
they have prepared have considered a number 
of sensitivities, including a range of outcomes, 
and that in all cases there remains sufficient 
mitigation measures available to management 
to ensure that Covid-19 changes to cash-flows 
are managed and that the Organisation can 
continue to meet its obligations as they fall 
due for the period of at least 12 months from 
signing the financial statements.

A new service was established in April 2020 in 

conjunction with the HSE, comprising 16 units over 

two properties in Dublin 8. This service provides vital 

cocooning services to vulnerable adults to protect 

against the contraction and spread of Covid-19.
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Interest rates
Focus Ireland held 9 loans at the end of 2019, 
which were issued on a fixed rate in order 
to mitigate the risk of adverse interest rate 
fluctuations.

Financial
The organisation has budgetary and financial 
reporting procedures, supported by appropriate 
key performance indicators, to manage credit, 
liquidity and other financial risk. All key financial 
indicators are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Insufficient funding
Focus Ireland is reliant on grants from 
government and donations from the public 
to have sufficient funding to deliver its work. 
Focus Ireland monitors the organisation’s 
cash position carefully and, as part of the 
2020 strategy, it aims to maintain reserves at 
a level of 13 weeks.

Tendering
There is a risk of Focus Ireland being forced 
to tender for services at an unsustainable 
deficit to funding. The current process of 
government bodies tendering is heavily 
weighted on cost over quality of service. 
This is having a significant impact on our 
organisation. We continue to work with the 
relevant bodies in relation to our concerns on 
the current procurement model being used.

Recruitment
The ability to recruit suitably qualified and 
experienced staff to fill vacant positions can 
be challenging. Focus Ireland works hard to 
attract, develop and keep people working 
with us. We continually improve our terms 
and conditions and ensure that we offer 
competitive salaries within the sector.

Housing supply
The availability of the right type of property 
in the right location is a significant risk in our 
ability to deliver on our strategy. This has been 
a significant challenge in recent years. Our 
Property and Development team continue to 
establish working relationships with developers 
and landlords, and use our procurement system 
to help generate a pipeline for future supply.

Data protection
In relation to a risk of non-compliance with 
GDPR and implications on our organisation, 
we continue to work with our Data Protection 
Officer to ensure all areas of our organisation 
are adhering to best practice.

Cyber-attacks
There is a risk of reputational damage and/or 
fines from the Data Protection Commissioner 
because of data breaches. The organisation 
has noticed a significant increase in phishing 
attempts. We will continue to mitigate against 
this risk by rolling out a number of specific 
security measures. These include Multi-Factorial 
Authentication and a staff training programme.

Inside Focus Ireland’s 
Coffee Shop in 
Temple Bar
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Going concern

The Company meets its day-to-day working 
capital requirements through its cash reserves. 
The current economic conditions continue 
to create uncertainty over the ability of the 
Company to maintain the level of donations 
received. The Company’s forecasts and 
projections, taking account of reasonably 
possible changes in trading performance, show 
that the Company should be able to operate for 
the foreseeable future. We have modelled the 
likely effects of Covid-19 on our cash forecast 
for the next 12 months, and we are satisfied that 
the organisation will be in a position to meet 
its obligations as they fall due. The Directors 
are satisfied that the prepared forecasts have 
considered a number of sensitivities, including 
a range of outcomes, and that in all cases there 
remains sufficient mitigation measures available 
to the Directors to ensure that cash-flows are 
managed and that the organisation can continue 
to meet its obligations as they fall due for the 
period of at least 12 months from signing the 
financial statements. Therefore, these financial 
statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. Further details concerning the 
adoption of the going concern basis can be 
found in Note 1(b) to the financial statements.

Reserves

Arising from the economic recession and after 
a sustained period of strategic investment 
of reserves in both housing and provision of 
services, the Board are committed to rebuilding 
cash reserves to ensure the sustainability and 
stability of activities over the next three years. 
We will ensure the long-term financial security 
of Focus Ireland by striving to maintain our 
reserves to a 13-week level. At 31 December, 
2019, the cash reserves stood at €17.9m, which 
represented over 13 weeks. While this balance 
decreased somewhat during Covid-19, it is our 
intention to bring our reserves balance back to 
that level over the short to medium term.

Governance and management

The directors and secretary who currently hold 
office and who held office during the year are 
listed throughout this annual report (pages 6, 
49 and 65). Focus Ireland has been a long-term 
advocate for rigorous statutory regulation 
of governance and fundraising in registered 
charities and approved housing bodies. In 
response to government delays in enacting 
such codes, Focus Ireland has worked with 
other sector leaders to establish and adhere to 
voluntary governance codes drawing on best 
international standards.

We have a proud track record of governance. 
Focus Ireland is signed up to and compliant with 
the full range of best practice codes in the Irish 
charity sector, as follows.

 > The voluntary Governance Code for Irish 
Charities: We are a Type C organisation and 
are fully compliant with this standard. The 
Governance statement in full, adopted by our 
Board on 30 March 2012 is available on our 
website. This statement was reviewed and 
affirmed by the Board in September 2019.

 > The voluntary ICTR Guiding Principles of 
Fundraising, which are reflected in our own 
Donor’s Charter

 > The Department of Environment, Community 
and Local Government’s Voluntary Regulation 
Code for Approved Housing Bodies

 > Triple Locked – member of Charities 
Institute Ireland.

 Focus Ireland has been a long-term advocate for rigorous statutory  

 regulation of governance and fundraising in registered charities  

 and approved housing bodies. In response to government delays in  

 enacting such codes, Focus Ireland has worked with other sector  

 leaders to establish and adhere to voluntary governance codes  

 drawing on best international standards. 
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Directors and  
Company Secretary

The directors and secretary who currently hold 
office, or who held office during 2019 are:

Directors

Focus Ireland Board
Sr Stanislaus Kennedy  
(Founder and Life President)
Mr Michael Layde (Chairperson)
Mr John O’Haire (Appointed 29 April 2019)
Ms Susan O’Connell
Mr Conor Jones (Appointed 25 February 2019)
Mr Tony Fahey (Appointed 14 March 2019)
Mr John Moloney

Focus Housing Association Board
Mr Diarmuid Burke (Chairperson)
Ms Fionnuala Meehan (Appointed 8 March 2019)
Mr Mark Dunleavy (Appointed 25 February 2019)
Ms Patricia Crisp (Appointed 25 February 2019)

Members of both Boards
Mr Andrew Gunne (Appointed 25 February 2019)
Mr Declan O’Flaherty
Ms Anna Lee
Mr Fergal O’Dwyer (Appointed 26 July 2019)

Secretary 
Mr Kevin Gregory (Resigned 26 July 2018)
Ms Pamela Keenan (Appointed 26 July 2019)

The Board is responsible for providing 
leadership, setting strategy and ensuring 
control. It comprises 11 non-executive directors, 
including one employee director. The Board’s 
non-executive directors are drawn from diverse 
backgrounds in business and professions, who 
bring to Board deliberations their significant 
business and decision-making skills achieved 
in their respective fields, together with a broad 
range of experience and views.

There is clear division of responsibility at 
the company, with the Board retaining control 
of major decisions under a formal schedule of 
matters reserved to the Board for decision, and 
with the Chief Executive responsible for devising 
strategy and policy within the authorities 
delegated to the Chief Executive by the Board.

The Company has a comprehensive 
process for reporting management 
information to the Board. The Board is 
provided with regular information, which 
includes key performance and risk indicators 
for all aspects of the organisation. The Board 
meets regularly as required and met six times 
during 2019 (six in 2018 also).

On appointment, directors go through an 
induction process, with briefing sessions and 
comprehensive briefing documents designed 
to familiarise them with the company’s 
operations, management and governance 
structures. All non-executive directors are 
appointed for an initial three-year term, 
which may be renewed for two further 
three-year periods, giving a maximum of nine 
continuous years for any director.

One-third of directors are required to 
retire annually by rotation and if eligible may 
offer themselves for re-election. The roles of 
Chairperson and Chief Executive are separate, 
as are the roles of Chief Executive and Company 
Secretary, and all directors are independent of 
the management of the company.

The Board of Directors retain overall 
responsibility for the strategic development 
of the company in close liaison with the 
executive officers.

The Board

 The Board of Directors retain overall responsibility  

 for the strategic development of the company in  

 close liaison with the executive officers. 
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Our board members are as follows:

Name Brief profile

Sister Stanislaus 
Kennedy

 > Sister Stanislaus Kennedy is an Irish Sister of Charity and one of 
Ireland’s best-known social innovators.

 > Sister Stan founded Focus Ireland in 1985 and is Life President 
of the organisation.

Diarmuid Burke  > Diarmuid joined the Focus Ireland Board in 2015.

 > Diarmuid has a wealth of experience within the financial sector and was 
senior executive with a growing pharmaceutical organisation for almost 
30 years, leading the organisation’s business at Finance Director and 
CFO level over that time.

 > In recent years, Diarmuid had specific responsibility for the general 
management of that organisation’s global healthcare business.

Michael Layde  > Michael joined the Focus Ireland Board as Director in April 2016 having 
recently retired from being Assistant Secretary in the Housing and 
Planning division of the Department of the Environment, Community 
and Local Government. Prior to this, Michael was Assistant Secretary in 
charge of the Department’s Environment division.

 > He previously served as Principal Officer in a number of the Department’s 
areas of activity, most recently as Principal Officer, Waste Policy, where 
he dealt with the review and regulation of the sector. He has been a 
member of the Department since 1995, having previously worked in the 
Department of Health.

 > Michael was appointed Chairperson of Focus Ireland in November 2018.

Anna Lee  > Anna joined the Board of Focus Ireland in 2015.

 > Anna has considerable experience of the local/community development 
sector, with a particular focus on the development of anti-poverty and 
social inclusion strategies (including economic and employment). She has 
been centrally involved in the design and implementation of integrated 
actions at local and regional level and was CEO of South Dublin County 
(formerly Tallaght/Dodder Valley) Partnership from 1991 until July 2014.

 > Anna has contributed to policy development at national, regional and 
county level. She chaired the Combat Poverty Agency, the Dublin 
Employment Pact, the South Dublin County Enterprise Board and 
Tallaght Drugs Task Force.

 > She currently chairs Volunteer Ireland and the South Dublin County 
Local Community Development Committee. She is also a board member 
of the Community Foundation for Ireland and Tallaght Hospital.

John O’Haire  > John has worked for Focus Ireland for over 20 years and joined the 
Focus Ireland Board as Worker Director in 2019 for his second term, 
having previously served when he was a Project Worker. He has worked 
in various capacities in the organisation over the years, garnering a 
wealth of experience as a Team Leader, Project Worker and currently 
Services Manager based in Dublin.
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Name Brief profile

Declan O’Flaherty  > Declan joined the Board in 2011. He is a Dublin businessperson who runs 
his family business in the motor industry.

 > Declan was previously involved with the Chernobyl Children’s Project.

John Moloney  > John joined the Focus Ireland Board as Director in January 2014.

 > He was previously Group Managing Director at Glanbia. He is a non-
executive director of a number of companies and a former council member 
of the Irish Business and Employers’ Confederation (IBEC).

Susan O’Connell  > Susan studied at University College Dublin and trained in McCann 
FitzGerald and qualified as a solicitor in 1996. Susan became a partner 
in McCann FitzGerald in 2002, leading the Private Client department 
of the firm for the following ten years, until the establishment of 
O’Connell Brennan Solicitors in 2012.

 > Susan specialises in personal estate and tax planning and also advises 
charities and non-profit organisations and donors in relation to 
philanthropic giving.

 > Susan is a former chairperson of the Society of Trust and Estate 
Practitioners (STEP) Ireland. She is also an Associate of the Irish 
Taxation Institute, a Chartered Tax Adviser (CTA) and a member of the 
International Academy of Trust and Estate Law.

Andrew Gunne  > Andrew joined Chartered Land as Chief Executive in 2014. His primary 
role is to oversee the repositioning of the current property portfolio 
while growing the business by securing new ventures in conjunction with 
leading real estate capital partners.

 > Prior to joining Chartered Land, Andrew was Managing Director of Key 
Capital Real Estate in Dublin, a business he co-founded in 2010. In that 
role, he led a senior real estate financing team, responsible for delivering 
more than €1 billion of property transactions in the period 2010 to 2014. 
Between 1999 and 2010, Andrew played a senior role in various Capital 
Markets Divisions in CB Richard Ellis, based in London and Dublin. During 
this time, he oversaw in excess of €1.2 billion of real estate transactions, 
with direct responsibility for sourcing, structuring, financing and executing 
investment transactions for a number of European institutional clients.

Fionnuala Meehan  > Fionnuala is Vice President of Google Customer Solutions for EMEA, 
leading a team of 800 people. Joining Google in 2005, Fionnuala 
was instrumental in the growth of the AdWords Sales & Operations 
organisation, went on to lead the EMEA Ad Operations team in 2010, 
and since 2015 has led our EMEA sales business.

 > As Head of Google in Ireland, Fionnuala is responsible for a site of 
more than 8,000 Googlers, interns and vendors, ensuring operations 
continue to flourish. She is also focused on securing future investment 
for Ireland, ensuring Google Ireland gives back to the business and local 
community in a meaningful way. 
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Name Brief profile

Tony Fahey  > Tony is Professor Emeritus of Social Policy in University College Dublin. 
He is a sociologist by training and before joining UCD in 2007 spent 15 
years as a social researcher in the Economic and Social Research Institute, 
Dublin. He has published on a range of topics connected with social 
policy and social trends in Ireland, the European Union and the United 
States. He is board member of a number of NGOs connected with social 
advocacy and social services in Ireland.

Conor Jones  > Conor joined Google in 2015 and currently leads the UKI LCS team in Dublin, 
having previously held leadership positions in GMS, GCE and gTech.

 > Conor trained as an electronic engineer and designed microchips for 
mobile applications for four years with Nasdaq-listed semiconductor 
intellectual property company ParthusCeva, Inc. Conor’s team delivered 
the world’s first commercially licensed Bluetooth IP, selling to clients 
such as Panasonic, Sharp, Hitachi and Fujitsu.

 > After obtaining his MBA he transitioned into management consulting, 
spending 10 years with McKinsey & Company – the last four as Managing 
Partner of McKinsey’s Irish practice. Conor’s work with McKinsey 
focused on telecoms, high tech and media clients across EMEA and 
he was Global co-Lead of the Customer Experience Practice, writing a 
number of articles on the subject for the McKinsey Quarterly and HBR.

Mark Dunleavy  > Mark is Managing Director of MD Property, which he established in 2004. 
MD Property is one of Ireland’s largest management and leasing firms. 
They currently manage over €1.8bn worth of assets containing 4,500 units 
across 75 developments. Mark is a chartered surveyor and is Chairman of 
the Society of Chartered Surveyors of Ireland residential committee. 

Patricia Crisp  > Patricia has over 30 years’ experience in all aspects of commercial and 
residential property, including professional services and agency.

 > A former Executive Director of Corcoran Jennison Europe Ltd, she is 
experienced in advising companies and institutions on their property 
holdings in relation to their company or institutional strategy.

 > Patricia specialises in Corporate Property Services, providing strategic 
property advice to corporate and institutional clients regarding all 
aspects of their property portfolio, such as relocation, sales and 
leaseback, development projects, fit-out, facilities management, 
project management and landlord and tenant issues. 

Fergal O’Dwyer  > Fergal joined the board of Focus Ireland and Focus Housing 
Association in 2019, assuming the role of Chair of the Finance Sub-
Committee also. He has worked in DCC in senior management 
positions for over 25 years.

 > Fergal joined DCC in 1989 and was appointed Chief Financial Officer 
in 1994, having worked in that role in the lead up to DCC’s flotation in 
that year. Prior to joining DCC, he previously worked with KPMG and 
Price Waterhouse in audit and corporate finance.
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Meeting and sub-committee  
attendance 2019
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Joined BoardBoard member

Focus Ireland (FI) 

Sister Stanislaus Kennedy 3/7 0/4 3/6 Sept 1985

Michael Layde (Chair FI) 6/7  4/4 4/7 April 2016

Susan O’Connell 5/7  3/4 6/6 May 2016

John Moloney 3/7 4/7 Jan 2014

*Triona O’Conner (Worker Director) 1/1 1/1 Aug 2018

*John O’Haire (Worker Director) 3/5 4/4 April 2019

Conor Jones 5/6 7/7 Feb 2019

Tony Fahey 4/6 3/3 March 2019

Focus Housing Association (FHA)

Diarmuid Burke (Chair FHA) 7/7  4/4 6/7 May 2015

Patricia Crisp 5/6 Feb 2019

Mark Dunleavy 4/6 Feb 2019

Fionnuala Meehan 4/6 March 2019

FI & FHA

Anna Lee 7/7 7/7 6/6 May 2015

Declan O’Flaherty 7/7 7/7  5/7 6/6 Sept 2011

Andrew Gunne 5/6 5/6 Feb 2019

Fergal O’Dwyer 3/3 3/3 4/5 July 2019

Sub-committee volunteer members

Niall Gibbons 0/7

Adrienne Regan 4/7

Niall O’Driscoll 5/7

Dee Forbes 0/7

Fiona Scott 3/3

Dr Mary Murphy 1/3

David Silke 1/2

Dr Eoin O’Sullivan 2/3

Dr Helen Johnson 3/3

Aidan Culhane 2/3

Dr Ursula McNulty 1/1

Dr Kathy Kelly 1/1

Dr Gloria Kirwan  4/6

Roger Wallace 3/6
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The position of Director of Services was filled 
in an acting capacity by Niall Keane until 
8 October 2019. Ciara Carty was appointed 
to this position effective from 9 October 
2019. Pamela Keenan returned from maternity 
leave on 15 April 2019 to the roll of Director of 
Finance, IT and Administration.

Board committees
Committees of the Board are established for 
good governance under the code of practice 
as follows.

Finance Committee
This committee monitors and reviews financial 
performance.

The committee should meet six times per year 
(2019: 7; 2018: 7) and consists of Non-Executive 
Directors and Focus Ireland Executives.

Functions of the committee
 > Monitor and review financial performance.
 > Review internal financial controls and risk 
management processes.

 > Offer advice and assistance to Focus 
Ireland’s Executive team to ensure financial 
sustainability of the organisation.

 > Provide specialist financial expertise and 
perspective to enable Focus Ireland to carry 
out its work effectively.

 > Report findings and recommendations from 
its review directly to the Board.

 > Devise and monitor finance procedures 
suited to the Agency’s activities.

 > Authorise expenditure greater than €100k.

 > Act as a point of escalation for Focus 
Ireland Executive.

 > Provide a forum where relevant issues/
controls and financial or sustainability 
concerns can be discussed and appropriate 
solutions devised.

Audit Committee
This committee reviews internal financial 
controls and risk management. The committee 
liaises with internal and external Auditors and 
reports to the Board.

The Committee should meet at least 
twice yearly (2019: 6; 2018: 7) and consists of 
Non-Executive Directors and Focus Ireland 
Executives.

Functions of the committee
 > Monitor the integrity of the financial 
statements of Focus Ireland and any formal 
announcements about the organisation’s 
financial performance.

 > Promote best practice in terms of 
financial reporting and governance 
throughout the organisation.

 > Review internal financial controls and risk 
management processes.

 > Liaise directly, and independently of 
Focus Ireland Executive, with internal 
and external auditors.

 > The Audit Sub-Committee will meet 
the external auditors at least once a 
year without any employees of Focus 
Ireland present to ensure there are no 
unresolved issues or concerns.

Sub-committee membership and 
attendance 2019
The Chief Executive Officer manages the 
operation of the company with delegated 
divisional responsibility to the following:

Division Executive in charge

Services Niall Keane/Ciara Carty

Finance, IT and Administration Kevin Gregory/Pamela Keenan

Advocacy, Research, Policy, 
Communication and Education

Mike Allen

Human Resources Madeleine Clarke/Briona Sheils

Fundraising (co-responsibility) Sinead Price/Rachel Murphy

Property Jan Mingle

 Committees of the Board are established for good  

 governance under the code of practice 
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 > Report findings and recommendations from 
its review directly to the Board.

 > Review and advise on choice of external and 
internal auditors as appointed every 5 years.

 > The Terms of Reference for auditors to be 
reviewed/amended as appropriate and 
ratified by the main Board of Focus Ireland 
every 5 years.

 > Review annually all insurance claims and 
cover to ensure an appropriate level of 
protection is maintained.

 > Review annually the Health & Safety policy 
of the organisation and monitor compliance 
with our obligations.

 > Review any investigations required and work 
with the Executive to complete any actions 
arising from such investigations.

 > Offer advice and assistance to Focus Ireland’s 
Executive team on the development of robust 
processes and on the protection of Focus 
Ireland’s reputation.

 > Devise and monitor procurement procedures 
suited to the Agency’s purchasing profile.

 > Act as a point of escalation for Focus Ireland 
Executive and undertake actions agreed at 
the Audit Sub-Committee meetings.

 > Provide a forum where relevant issues 
and audit concerns can be discussed and 
appropriate solutions devised.

 > Allow Board Members or employees to 
raise concerns about potential irregularities 
in confidence regarding financial reporting. 
The Audit Sub-Committee will investigate 
matters raised.

 > Any audit items that relate to the Board’s 
areas of responsibilities will be communicated 
to the Board as soon as they are identified.

 > Provide specialist financial and audit expertise 
and perspective to enable Focus Ireland to 
carry out its work effectively.

 > Contribute to a think tank every 3 years on 
audit and risk management.

Remuneration & Nomination 
Committee
The function of this committee is to ensure 
successional planning and that the composition 
of the Board has appropriate skills, knowledge 
and experience, as well as approving and 
determining remuneration for Executive 
Management.

The committee should meet twice yearly 
(2019: 3; 2018: 2) or when required and 
consists of Non-Executive Directors and 
Focus Ireland Executives.

Functions of the committee – nomination
 > The Board Directors need to have the 
skills, experience, expertise and time 
to fulfil their role and responsibility on 
the Board as detailed in the Terms of 
Reference for the Board.

 > There needs to be certain Board Directors 
with the necessary experience to chair and/
or participate in the Sub-Committees of 
the Board, e.g. Research, Funding, Audit, 
Finance, Services, Housing Development and 
Maintenance, Remuneration, and Regions.

 > Board Directors are appointed initially for a 
three-year term. In general, they will be asked 
to extend for a second three-year term by the 
Chairperson of the Board and the decision 
will be endorsed by the full Board. The 
Chairperson will decide whether a Director 
should stand down from the Board and the 
decision will be endorsed by the full Board.

 > The Remuneration & Nomination Committee 
must ensure there is sufficient rotation 
of Directors on the Board to allow new 
perspectives to be brought in, while balancing 
the continuity of the Board and recognising 
the knowledge and experience of Focus 
Ireland that is built up over time.

 > The Remuneration & Nomination Committee 
must ensure the Nominees chosen are 
integrated into the Board seamlessly and 
assist in the induction of new Directors.

 > The Remuneration & Nomination Committee 
will ensure all Directors chosen will:

 > Be key individuals who act at a senior level 
in their area of expertise

 > Act as champions for Focus Ireland and be 
able to influence key stakeholders in the 
statutory, business and community sector

 > Operate in the interest of Focus Ireland and 
in line with its Mission, Vision and Values.

 The Board Directors need to have the skills, experience,  

 expertise and time to fulfil their role and responsibility on the  

 Board as detailed in the Terms of Reference for the Board. 
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Functions of the committee – remuneration
 > The Remuneration & Nomination Committee 
has been formed to appoint the CEO and 
determine and approve the remuneration of the 
CEO and changes to the remuneration of the 
Executive team reporting directly to the CEO.

 > The Chairperson of the Board will be 
Chairperson of the Remuneration & 
Nomination Committee.

 > The Life President and Vice Chairperson 
will be members of the Remuneration & 
Nomination Committee and one other 
Board Director (e.g. person who brings 
HR specialist/Finance specialist/Business 
experience to the Board.)

 > The CEO will be responsible for monitoring 
and assessing the performance of the 
Executive team.

 > The CEO will make recommendations 
to the Remuneration & Nomination 
Committee for endorsement.

 > The Chairperson of the Board will be 
responsible for monitoring and accessing the 
performance of the CEO in accordance with 
Focus Ireland’s performance management 
policy and procedures.

 > Meetings will aim to reach consensus 
decision; if necessary, a vote will be taken. 
The Chairperson will hold the deciding vote.

 > The Chairperson will be responsible for 
the administration and management of the 
Committee, including scheduling meetings, 
agenda and minutes.

 > The Committee will meet at least once a year 
and more often by exception, if necessary.

Research Sub-Committee
The Research Sub-Committee is a sub-
committee of the Focus Ireland Board. Its 
aim is to provide advice, guidance and 
recommendations in relation to research on 
the causes and solutions to homelessness, and 
to support the organisational aim of ending 
homelessness in Ireland.

The Sub-Committee will meet at least 
three times a year (2019: 3; 2018: 3). It 
comprises non-executive members of the 
Board, volunteer experts, leading academics 
and Focus Ireland executives. The Chair of 
the Sub-Committee is a member of the Focus 
Ireland Board. The Director of Advocacy, 
Research and Communications will act as the 
Executive Officer of the Sub-Committee, with 
the support of the Research Coordinator.

Functions of the committee
 > Advise Focus Ireland on a programme of 
research and evaluation in the context of the 
organisation’s strategic plan and objectives.

 > Contribute to and advise Focus Ireland on the 
development of its research strategy.

 > Monitor the progress of the research 
programme and advise the Director of 
Advocacy, Research and Communications 
(DARC) and/or the Research Coordinator in 
relation to particular research projects.

 > Review, critically analyse and comment on 
draft research reports prior to publication.

 > Advise in relation to the dissemination of 
research reports and the most effective 
means to influence public policy.

 > Establish a Research Ethics Sub-
Committee and be responsible for 
ensuring that Focus Ireland’s Ethical 
Research Guidelines are adhered to.

 > Participate in the development of the 
organisation’s multi-annual strategic plan, 
with particular reference to emerging 
areas of research and evidence of effective 
practice and policy.

 > Advise on relevant external experts and 
leading academics to be members of the 
Research Sub-Committee to ensure expertise 
on all relevant areas is available.

 > Any other matters of common interest that 
the Chairs and/or the CEO believe would 
contribute to the objectives of Focus Ireland.

 > The Research Sub-Committee will hold 
periodic joint meetings with the Services 
Sub-Committee, as decided by the Chairs of 
the two committees, in relation to:

 > Evaluations and impact assessments of 
Focus Ireland Services

 > Assessment of the emerging trends in the 
scale and nature of homelessness

 > Discussions of emerging innovations in 
policy and practice.

 The Research Sub-Committee is a sub-committee  

 of the Focus Ireland Board. Its aim is to provide  

 advice, guidance and recommendations in relation to  

 research on the causes and solutions to homelessness,  

 and to support the organisational aim of ending  

 homelessness in Ireland. 
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Services Committee
This committee provides advice and guidance 
on models of services available and good 
practices associated with service delivery.

The committee should meet four times 
each year (2019: 6; 2018: 7) and consists of 
Non-Executive Directors, Volunteer Experts 
and Focus Ireland Executives.

Functions of the committee
 > Advise Focus Ireland on models of services 
available and good practices associated with 
service delivery within the context of the 
Agency’s strategic plan.

 > Contribute to and advise Focus Ireland on the 
development of its services strategy.

 > Participate in a think tank every 3–5 years on 
the services considering future demand and 
policy over the next 5–10 years.

 > Provide a forum where relevant issues/
challenges can be discussed relating to 
services in meeting the demands and needs 
presenting and provide recommendations.

 > Advise on external experts to invite to join 
the Services Sub-Committee.

 > Introduce Focus Ireland Executive and 
Management to key influencers and 
decision makers in statutory, business and 
community sectors to improve policies, 
services and strategy to eliminate long-term 
homelessness in Ireland.

Funding and Branding Committee
The function of this committee is to advise on 
brand, digital and marketing development, 
fundraising and retail development in the 
context of the Focus Ireland strategic plan.

This committee meets up to six times per year 
(2019: 6; 2018: 6). It consists of Non-Executive 
Directors and Focus Ireland Executives.

Functions of the committee
 > Offer advice and assistance to Focus 
Ireland on brand development and raising 
funds within the context of Focus Ireland’s 
strategic plan.

 > Contribute to, and provide advice on, the 
development of Focus Ireland’s sustainable 
growth and investment strategy, including 
development of partnerships, channels and 
strategies that will help raise awareness.

 > Consider proposals made, approaches 
adopted and contribute to discussions on 
lobbying, campaigning, fundraising and how 
to overcome challenges.

 > Provide a forum where relevant issues can 
be discussed and solutions can be devised, 
appropriate for specific regions.

 > Introduce Focus Ireland Executive, fundraising 
staff and regional managers to key high-
worth individuals, philanthropists, corporate 
stakeholders, media and branding specialists, 
influencers and decision makers.

 > Actively engage stakeholders in the 
statutory, business and community sectors 
to improve policy and services to eliminate 
homelessness in the region.

 > Provide specialist expertise and perspective 
to enable Focus Ireland to raise funds to 
carry out its work effectively.

 > Contribute to and provide advice on the 
development of Focus Ireland’s funding 
strategy every 3–5 years.

 > Provide a strong voice for Focus 
Ireland within own community/region, 
and provide specialist expertise and 
perspective to help us carry out our work 
and fundraising effectively.
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Internal controls
The Directors acknowledge their overall 
responsibility for the Group’s systems of internal 
control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 
They have delegated responsibility for the 
implementation of this system to the Executive 
Management. This system includes financial 
controls, which enable the Board to meet its 
responsibilities for the integrity and accuracy of 
the Group’s accounting records.

The Board has also established a process of 
compliance which addresses the Board’s wider 
responsibility to maintain, review and report 
on all internal controls, including financial, 
operation and compliance risk management.

The key elements of internal control systems
 1. The Group has strict policies and 

procedures in place for the receipt, 
recording and control of donations received 
from private individuals and the corporate 
sector. These procedures are regularly 
reviewed and independently audited.

 2. The Group has an established Risk 
Management programme. A detailed risk 
register is in place and risk is owned and 
monitored by an Executive. Risk is discussed 
and reviewed in the executive meeting 
regularly. Risks are reviewed by the Audit 
Sub-Committee twice annually.

 3. An independent internal audit is conducted 
periodically to evaluate the internal 
financial controls and assessment of 

business risk. The most recent audit report 
from 2019 was positive, stating that the 
internal controls of the organisation were 
well documented and sufficiently robust to 
safeguard the assets of the company.

 4. The Audit Committee reports 
independently to the Board on all aspects 
of controls and risks.

 5. There is a formal organisational structure 
in place with clearly defined lines of 
responsibility, division of duties and 
delegation of authority.

 6. Detailed budgets are prepared annually, 
in line with the strategic plan. Budgets are 
reviewed by the Finance Sub-Committee 
and further reviewed and approved by the 
Board. Actual results and service outcomes 
are compared regularly against these 
Budgets to ensure alignment with plan, tight 
budgetary control and value for money.

 7. As part of the reserve policy, we will 
endeavour to maintain reserve levels to 
mitigate risks and to ensure sustainability 
of our services.

Conflicts of interest
Agendas for each Board meeting are circulated 
in advance for review. The Chairperson on each 
Board asks at the start of each Board meeting if 
anyone has a conflict of interest that needs to 
be declared. Any conflicts are recorded in our 
conflicts of interest register and this is reviewed 
annually by our Audit Sub-Committee.

 Detailed budgets are prepared annually, in line with the strategic  

 plan. Budgets are reviewed by the Finance Sub-Committee and further  

 reviewed and approved by the Board. 
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Work has already commenced on our Strategy 
2021–2025, which will continue to build on our 
achievements from our existing strategy. We 
understand that homelessness has grown and 
remains a blight on individuals, families and 
our society as a whole. In the next five years, 
we must increase our ambition to match the 
increased scale of need. But we cannot do 
everything and must make choices on where to 
focus and how we can have the biggest impact.

During 2019, we invested in technology and 
a product called ‘Orion’ to allow us to track our 
services more closely and have access to ‘live’ 
data. This will help to gain evidence for what is 
working, to challenge what is not working, and 
to use this information to make decisions and 
bring in new thinking to keep pace with change. 
This investment in digital transformation will 
continue into 2020 and beyond.

Service developments in 2019 build on 
Focus Ireland’s established expertise in working 
with families and young people to prevent, and 
achieve sustainable exits from, homelessness.

Supporting families: Homelessness is a 
traumatic experience for families. Being out of 
home undermines the sense of security that 
should be integral to family life. Managing 
the experience of homelessness puts even 
further strain on families, e.g. frequent 
changes in accommodation, travelling long 
distances to children’s schools and cramped 
accommodation for extended periods.

In 2019, Focus Ireland developed a 
Family Resource Centre in 53 Mountjoy 
Street, Dublin 7, where family homelessness 
is concentrated. The centre was officially 
opened in January 2020 and will support 
families using a dual approach of respite and 
case management, to mitigate the impact of 
trauma on children, and support families to 
exit homelessness into a sustainable home.

Supporting vulnerable young people: 
Young people, particularly those leaving 
state care, are particularly vulnerable to 
homelessness. Young people are disadvantaged 
in securing accommodation, and an early 
experience of homelessness can too easily lead 
to a lifetime of recurrent homelessness.

Focus Ireland will provide two key 
services for vulnerable young people in 2020, 
demonstrating the value and impact of an 
early intervention and prevention approach. 
Our Family Mediation services help vulnerable 
young people maintain relationships with their 
families (including foster families), preventing 
homelessness. Our Aftercare Support and 
Settlement services are tailored to the needs 
of young people leaving state care, working 
with them to build their own capacity to 
establish an independent life for themselves.

Finally, we will continue with our high 
standards in transparency and strong 
governance to maintain a financially stable 
organisation, which is vital to deliver this 
strategy.

We believe the new strategy is staying 
true to our values and ethos of treating our 
customers with fairness, dignity and respect.

Accounting records

The measures taken by the Directors to 
secure compliance with the requirements 
of sections 281 to 285 of the Companies Act 
2014 with regard to the keeping of accounting 
records, are the engagement of appropriately 
qualified accounting personnel and the 
maintenance of computerised accounting 
systems. The Group’s accounting records are 
maintained at the Group’s registered office at 
9–12 High Street, Dublin 8.

Plans for the future

For the year 2020, the organisation plans to continue with its  
Strategy 2017–2020: Challenging homelessness. Changing Lives. 

In 2019, Focus Ireland 
finalised plans to develop 
a Family Resource Centre 
in 53 Mountjoy Street, 
Dublin 7.

75Focus Ireland Annual Report 2019



Statement of disclosure  
of information to auditors

Each of the persons who is a Director at 
the date of approval of these financial 
statements confirms that:

 1. So far as the Director is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the 
Group’s Auditors are unaware, and

 2. The Director has taken all the steps that 
he/she ought to have taken as a Director 
in order to make himself/herself aware 
of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the Group’s Auditors are 
aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be 
interpreted in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 350 of the Companies Act 2014.

Statement of Directors’ 
responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the 
Directors’ report and the financial statements in 
accordance with Irish law.

Irish law requires the Directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year, 
giving a true and fair view of the company’s 
assets, liabilities and financial position at the 
end of the financial year and the profit or loss of 
the company for the financial year. Under that 
law, the Directors have prepared the financial 
statements in accordance with Irish Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (accounting 
standards issued by the UK Financial Reporting 
Council, including Financial Reporting Standard 
102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland and Irish law).

Under Irish law, the Directors shall not 
approve the financial statements unless they 
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view 
of the company’s assets, liabilities and financial 
position as at the end of the financial year 
and the profit or loss of the company for the 
financial year.

In preparing these financial statements, 
the Directors are required to:

 > Select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently

 > Make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

 > State whether the financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards and identify the 
standards in question, subject to any material 
departures from those standards being 
disclosed and explained in the notes to the 
financial statements

 > Prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the company will continue in 
business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are 
sufficient to:

 > Correctly record and explain the 
transactions of the company

 > Enable, at any time, the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss of 
the company to be determined with 
reasonable accuracy

 > Enable the Directors to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2014 and enable those 
financial statements to be audited.

The Directors are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the company 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

Independent auditors

The statutory auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
have been appointed in 2019 and have indicated 
their willingness to remain in office, and a 
resolution that they be reappointed will be 
proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the board:

Michael Layde
Director

Declan O’Flaherty
Director

Date: 27 August 2020
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Opinion
In our opinion, Focus Ireland Company 
Limited by Guarantee’s group financial 
statements and company financial 
statements (the ‘financial statements’):

 > give a true and fair view of the group’s and 
the company’s assets, liabilities and financial 
position as at 31 December 2019 and of 
the group’s profit and the group’s and the 
company’s cash flows for the year then ended

 > have been properly prepared in accordance 
with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice in Ireland (Irish GAAP) (accounting 
standards issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council of the UK, including Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland’ and Irish law)

 > have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2014.

We have audited the financial statements, 
included within the Reports and Consolidated 
Financial Statements (the ‘Annual Report’), 
which comprise the:

 > Consolidated Balance Sheet as at  
31 December 2019

 > Company Balance Sheet as at  
31 December 2019

 > Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities 
for the year then ended

 > Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for 
the year then ended

 > Company Statement of Cash Flows for the 
year then ended

 > Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
Reserves for the year then ended

 > Company Statement of Changes in Reserves 
for the year then ended

 > Notes to the financial statements, which 
include a description of the significant 
accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) 
(‘ISAs (Ireland)’) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under ISAs (Ireland) are further 
described in the ‘Auditors’ responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements’ section of our 
report. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the group in 
accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in Ireland, which includes IAASA’s 
Ethical Standard and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to  
going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters in relation to which ISAs 
(Ireland) require us to report to you where:

 > the directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is not appropriate; or

 > the directors have not disclosed in the 
financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 
about the group’s or the company’s ability to 
continue to adopt the going concern basis 
of accounting for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

However, because not all future events 
or conditions can be predicted, this 
statement is not a guarantee as to the 
group’s or the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.

Independent auditors’ report to the members of  
Focus Ireland Company Limited by Guarantee

Report on the audit of the financial statements
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Reporting on other information
The other information comprises all the 
information in the Reports and Consolidated 
Financial Statements other than the financial 
statements and our auditors’ report thereon. 
The directors are responsible for the other 
information. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information 
and, accordingly, we do not express an audit 
opinion or, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in this report, any form of 
assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the 
financial statements, our responsibility is 
to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify an apparent material 
inconsistency or material misstatement, we are 
required to perform procedures to conclude 
whether there is a material misstatement 
of the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report 
based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Directors’ Report, 
we also considered whether the disclosures 
required by the Companies Act 2014 have 
been included.

Based on the responsibilities described 
above and our work undertaken in the course 
of the audit, ISAs (Ireland) and the Companies 
Act 2014 require us to also report certain 
opinions and matters as described below:

 > In our opinion, based on the work 
undertaken in the course of the audit, the 
information given in the Directors’ Report 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 is 
consistent with the financial statements and 
has been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable legal requirements.

Based on our knowledge and understanding of 
the group and company and their environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have 
not identified any material misstatements in 
the Directors’ Report.

Responsibilities for the financial 
statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the 
financial statements
As explained more fully in the ‘Directors’ 
responsibilities’ statement set out on page 76, 
the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements in accordance with 
the applicable framework and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view.

The directors are also responsible for such 
internal control as they determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the 
group’s and the company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the group or 
the company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit  
of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on the IAASA website at:

 
https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-
458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description_of_
auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf

This description forms part of our 
auditors’ report.
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Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been 
prepared for and only for the company’s 
members as a body in accordance with section 
391 of the Companies Act 2014 and for no other 
purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, 
accept or assume responsibility for any other 
purpose or to any other person to whom this 
report is shown or into whose hands it may 
come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2014 opinions  
on other matters
We have obtained all the information and 
explanations which we consider necessary 
for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion the accounting records of 
the company were sufficient to permit the 
company financial statements to be readily 
and properly audited.

The Company Balance Sheet is in 
agreement with the accounting records.

Other exception reporting

Directors’ remuneration and transactions
Under the Companies Act 2014 we are 
required to report to you if, in our opinion, 
the disclosures of directors’ remuneration 
and transactions specified by sections 
305 to 312 of that Act have not been 
made. We have no exceptions to report 
arising from this responsibility.

Aisling Fitzgerald

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and  
Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin

27 August 2020
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2019: Mix of income €m
——————————————————————

 Grant income 14.03 

 Fundraising income 12.05 

 Rental income 2.67 

 Other income 2.91 

 Total income 31.66

 
2019: Mix of expenditure €m
——————————————————————

 Direct charitable  
activities costs 27.37 

 Governance and  
support costs 0.30 

 Fundraising and  
events costs 3.66 

 Operational expenditure 31.33

2019: Mix of expenditure  €m 
(Excluding retail)
——————————————————————

 Direct charitable  
activities costs 27.37 

 Governance and  
support costs 0.30 

 Fundraising and  
events costs 3.42 

 Operational expenditure 31.09

Note: Pie charts were created using exact figures, then rounded to the nearest whole percentage for illustration purposes.
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Consolidated statement of financial activities

for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2019
Unrestricted 

funds

2019
Restricted

Funds
2019
Total

2018
Unrestricted 

funds

2018
Restricted 

funds
2018
Total

Notes € € € € € €

Income from:

Donations and legacies 4 10,479,849 1,565,203 12,045,052 10,023,802 1,383,815 11,407,617

Charitable activities 5 – 14,031,566 14,031,566 – 13,197,619 13,197,619

Other 6 5,586,693 400 5,587,093 4,443,891 3,468 4,447,359

Total income 16,066,542 15,597,169 31,663,711 14,467,693 14,584,902 29,052,595

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 4 3,656,743 – 3,656,743 3,152,300 – 3,152,300

Charitable activities 7 12,343,310 14,811,316 27,154,626 11,516,463 13,535,362 25,051,825

Interest on borrowings 8 518,185 – 518,185 386,199 – 386,199

Total expenditure 16,518,238 14,811,316 31,329,554 15,054,962 13,535,362 28,590,324

Net (expenditure)/
income before taxation

(451,696) 785,853 334,157 (587,269) 1,049,540 462,271

Taxation 13 – – – – – –

Net movement in  
funds for the year

(451,696) 785,853 334,157 (587,269) 1,049,540 462,271

There are no other recognised gains or losses other than those listed above and the net movement for 
the financial year. All income and expenditure derives from continuing activities.
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Consolidated balance sheet

as at 31 December 2019

2019 2018

Notes € €

Fixed assets

Fixed assets – properties 15 115,494,808 102,259,785

Other tangible assets 16 791,054 148,217

Total fixed assets 116,285,862 102,408,002

Current assets

Cash at bank and in hand 7,862,643 10,562,882

Debtors 17 2,440,364 1,826,037

Total current assets 10,303,007 12,388,919

Creditors:
amounts falling due within one financial year 18 (4,717,775) (5,854,552)

Net current assets 5,585,232 6,534,367

Total assets less current liabilities 121,871,094 108,942,369

Creditors:
amounts falling due after more than one financial year

Capital Assistance Scheme Loans 19 (83,822,663) (73,362,458)

Capital Advanced Leasing Facility Loans 20 (3,464,705) (3,267,168)

Bank Loans 21 (15,784,847) (13,848,021)

Total creditors falling due after more than one year 22 (103,072,215) (90,477,647)

Net assets 18,798,879 18,464,722

The funds of the charity

Restricted income funds 23 4,257,309 3,471,456

Unrestricted funds 24 8,669,724 7,501,351

Capital grants and donations 25 3,281,581 3,301,650

Unrestricted capital reserves 26 2,590,265 2,590,265

Designated funds 27 – 1,600,000

18,798,879 18,464,722

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the  
Board of Directors on 27 August 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Michael Layde Declan O’Flaherty
Director Director
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Company balance sheet

as at 31 December 2019

2019 2018

Notes € €

Fixed assets

Other tangible assets 16 791,054 148,217

Current assets

Cash at bank and in hand 5,235,810 7,677,172

Debtors 17 3,650,460 2,222,884

Total current assets 8,886,270 9,900,056

Liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due within one financial year 18 (3,305,876) (3,442,756)

Net current assets 5,580,394 6,457,300

Net assets 6,371,448 6,605,517

The funds of the charity

Restricted income funds 23 2,026,103 2,026,103

Unrestricted funds 24 3,928,891 2,552,343

Capital grants and donations 25 416,454 427,071

Designated funds 27 – 1,600,000

6,371,448 6,605,517

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the  
Board of Directors on 27 August 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Michael Layde Declan O’Flaherty
Director Director

83Focus Ireland Annual Report 2019



Consolidated statement of changes in reserves

for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Restricted 
accumulated 

reserves

Unrestricted 
accumulated 

reserves
Designated 

reserves

Capital 
grants and 
donations

Unrestricted 
capital 

reserve Total

Notes € € € € € €

Group at  
1 January 2019

3,471,456 7,501,351 1,600,000 3,301,650 2,590,265 18,464,722

Surplus/(deficit) for 
the financial year

785,853 (451,696)  –  –  – 334,157

Transfer of  
reserves

 –  1,600,000 (1,600,000)  –  –  –

Amortisation of  
Capital Grant

25  –  20,069  –  (20,069)  –  –

At 31 December 
2019

4,257,309 8,669,724 – 3,281,581 2,590,265 18,798,879

In respect of the prior year

Restricted 
accumulated 

reserves

Unrestricted 
accumulated 

reserves
Designated 

reserves

Capital 
grants and 
donations

Unrestricted 
capital 

reserve Total

Notes € € € € € €

Group at  
1 January 2018

2,421,916 8,078,003 1,600,000 3,312,267 2,590,265 18,002,451

Surplus/(deficit) for 
the financial year

1,049,540  (587,269)  –  –  – 462,271

Transfer of  
reserves

 –  – –  –  –  –

Amortisation of  
Capital Grant

25 –  10,617  – (10,617)  – –

At 31 December  
2018

3,471,456 7,501,351 1,600,000 3,301,650 2,590,265 18,464,722
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Company statement of changes in reserves

for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Restricted 
accumulated 

reserves

Unrestricted 
accumulated 

reserves
Designated 

reserves

Capital 
grants and 
donations

Unrestricted 
capital 

reserve Total

Notes € € € € € €

At 1 January  
2019

2,026,103 2,552,343 1,600,000 427,071 – 6,605,517

Deficit for the 
financial year

– (234,069) – – – (234,069)

Transfer of  
reserves

– 1,600,000 (1,600,000) – – –

Amortisation of 
Capital Grant

25 – 10,617 – (10,617) – –

At 31 December  
2019

2,026,103 3,928,891 – 416,454 – 6,371,448

In respect of the prior year

Restricted 
accumulated 

reserves

Unrestricted 
accumulated 

reserves
Designated 

reserves

Capital 
grants and 
donations

Unrestricted 
capital 

reserve Total

Notes € € € € € €

At 1 January  
2018

2,026,103 2,755,231 1,600,000 437,688 – 6,819,022

Surplus for the 
financial year

– (213,505) – – – (213,505)

Amortisation of 
Capital Grant

25 – 10,617 – (10,617) – –

At 31 December  
2018

2,026,103 2,552,343 1,600,000 427,071 – 6,605,517
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

Notes € €

Cash flows (used in) generated from charitable activities 28 (462,139) 1,958,005

Cash flows used in investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets 15/16 (14,414,835) (16,768,319)

Disposals of tangible fixed assets – 276,432

Net cash used in investing activities (14,414,835) (16,480,887)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Interest paid (388,409) (380,799)

Increase in bank loans 1,907,403 5,952,944

Increase in CAS Housing loans 10,460,205 9,764,161

Increase in CALF loans 197,536 1,660,080

Net cash generated from financing activities 12,176,735 16,996,386

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the financial year 2,700,239 2,473,504

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 10,562,882 8,089,378

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 7,862,643 10,562,882
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Company statement of cash flows

for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

Notes € €

Cash flows generated from charitable activities 28 (1,722,175) 1,012,881

Cash flows used in investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (719,187) (39,217)

Net cash used in investing activities (719,187) (39,217)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Cash inflows from new borrowings –

Cash inflows from capital donations –

Net cash generated from financing activities –

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the financial year (2,441,362) 973,664

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 7,677,172 6,703,508

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 5,235,810 7,677,172
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Notes to the financial statements

for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

1. Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted, judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
in the preparation of the financial statements are as follows:

a) General information and basis of preparation
The nature of the group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the directors’ 
report on pages 50–80. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 (FRS 102) and Irish statute comprising the Companies Acts 2014 as applied in 
accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) (FRS102) ‘Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities’ as jointly published by the Charity Commission for England and Wales and 
the office of the Scottish Charity Regulator, who are recognised by the UK Accounting Standards 
Board (ASB) as the appropriate body to issue SORPs for the charity sector in the UK. Financial 
reporting in line with the SORP is considered best practice for charities in Ireland. As noted above, 
the directors consider the adoption of the SORP requirements is the most appropriate accounting 
practice and presentation to properly reflect and disclose the activities of the organisation.

The functional currency of Focus Ireland Company Limited by Guarantee is considered to 
be the Euro because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
company operates.

b) Going concern
The Company meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through its cash reserves.  
The current economic conditions continue to create uncertainty over the ability of the Company 
to maintain the level of donations received. The Company’s forecasts and projections, taking 
account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show that the Company should 
be able to operate for the foreseeable future. We have modelled the likely effects of Covid-19 on 
our cash forecast for the next 12 months, and we are comfortable that the organisation will be in a 
position to meet its obligations as they fall due. The Directors are comfortable that the forecasts 
prepared have considered a number of sensitivities, including a range of outcomes, and that in 
all cases there remains sufficient mitigation measures available to the Directors to ensure that 
cash-flows are managed and that the organisation can continue to meet its obligations as they fall 
due for the period of at least 12 months from signing the financial statements. Therefore, these 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

c) Group financial statements
The financial statements consolidate the results of the charity and its subsidiaries, Focus Housing 
Association and Excellent Common Areas Owner Management Limited, and its Joint Venture, 
The Caretakers Project.

Focus Housing Association CLG became a Subsidiary by alteration of its Memorandum and Articles 
of Association on 5 March 1998. These Articles provide that Focus Ireland CLG shall at all times hold 
voting control of the Subsidiary Company. During the year, Focus Housing Association CLG acquired 
Excellent Common Areas Owner Management Limited. This is a dormant company.

The Caretakers Project CLG is treated as a Joint Venture and the full financial results of the 
Company are incorporated in the Group financial statements as the Group has control of the 
management and administration of all the financial activities of the entity.
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d) Income
Income is recognised when the charity has entitlement to the funds, and performance 
conditions attached to the item(s) of income have been met, it is probable that that the income 
will be received and the amount can be measured reliably.

Donations and legacies income represents the gross money raised including all gross income 
from events held. In accordance with best practice, donations and legacies income is shown gross 
without deduction of any overhead costs involved in raising such funds.

For legacies, entitlement is taken as the earlier of the date on which either: the charity is aware 
that probate has been granted, the estate has been finalised and notification has been made by 
the executor(s) to the Trust that a distribution will be made, or when a distribution is received from 
the estate. Receipt of a legacy, in whole or in part, is only considered probable when the amount 
can be measured reliably and the charity has been notified of the executor’s intention to make a 
distribution. Where legacies have been notified to the charity or the charity is aware of the granting 
of probate, and the criteria for income recognition have not been met, then the legacy is treated as 
a contingent asset and disclosed if material.

Income from government and other grants, whether ‘capital’ or ‘revenue’ grants, is recognised 
when the charity has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached to the grants 
have been met, it is probable that the income will be received and the amount can be measured 
reliably and is not deferred.

Other trading activities income includes rental income, Payment and Availability (PAA) income and 
restaurant income. Rental income and PAA income is recorded on a receivable basis. Restaurant 
income is recorded on a cash receipts basis.

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured 
reliably by the charity; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the Bank.

Other income includes parents’ contributions towards childcare centres, restaurant sales, 
capital management income for properties, payment and availability income PAA and other 
miscellaneous income.

Income received in respect of future specified service provision is deferred until the criteria for 
income recognition are met.

Gifts in kind for use by the Group are included as incoming resources when received. Gifts are 
valued at open market value or at a reasonable estimate of the gross value to the Group. Donated 
goods received for resale in our retail stores are recorded as income when sold.

e) Fund accounting
Unrestricted funds are available to spend on activities that further any of the purposes of the 
charity. Restricted funds relate to donations or a grant which the donor or funder has specified are 
to be solely used for particular areas of the charity’s work. Designated funds relate to funds which 
have been allocated for specific spend.

f) Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT
Expenditure is recognised once there is legal or constructive obligation to make a payment to a 
third party, it is probable that settlement will be required and the amount of the obligation can be 
measured reliably. Expenditure is classified under the following activity headings:

 > Costs of raising funds include staff, direct, indirect overheads and event costs. 
Costs are recorded on a receipts basis.

 > Expenditure on charitable activities includes staff, direct, indirect overheads 
and support costs incurred in furthering the purposes of the charity.

 > Expenditure on Advocacy includes staff and campaign costs.
 > Governance costs.

Irrecoverable VAT is charged as a cost against the activity for which the expenditure was incurred.
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g) Allocation of support costs
Support costs are those functions that assist the work of the charity but do not directly undertake 
charitable activities. Support costs include headquarter costs, finance, personnel, payroll and 
other costs which support the charity’s programme and activities. These costs have been allocated 
between costs of raising funds and expenditure on charitable activities based on staff headcount.

Governance cost policy

The resources expended on charitable activities have been classified to comply with SORP 2015. Such 
costs include the direct costs of the charitable activities together with those Support costs (Finance 
and Administration cost) incurred that enable these activities to be undertaken. These Support costs 
have been allocated across the activities based on headcount and floor space occupied.

Fundraising costs cover all costs incurred in raising funds including staff and event costs.

h) Leases
All operating lease rentals are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities on a 
straight line basis.

i) Fixed assets
From 1 January 2014, Fixed Assets (properties) are capitalised at cost and are depreciated 
according to the estimated useful economic lives of their relevant components and on a straight 
line basis in order to bring the assets to their residual value. All Fixed Assets as at 31 December 2013 
are included in Land and Buildings (main fabric).

In addition, under the terms of our loan agreements with respective local authorities, the Group is 
required to keep the mortgaged properties in good structural order, repair and condition and not 
to permit the mortgaged properties to depreciate by neglect or mismanagement. Detailed reviews 
for impairment are therefore only carried out if the Directors are satisfied that there are definite 
indications that impairment has occurred. The Directors are satisfied that an annual charge for 
depreciation would be inappropriate.

In relation to the main fabric of Land and Buildings, in order to ensure the property is fit for purpose, 
all initial expenditure is capitalised at cost. Depreciation is not provided on the main fabric of Land 
and Buildings on the grounds that the estimated useful lives of these properties exceed 50 years.

The components of each fixed asset (property) are depreciated as follows:

Component Annual rate

Land and buildings (main fabric) 0%

Roof structure and coverings 1.43%

Windows and external doors 3.33%

Gas boilers/fires 6.66%

Kitchen 5%

Bathroom/WCs 3.33%

Mechanical systems 3.33%

Electrics 2.5%

Lift 5%

Other tangible assets are capitalised at cost and are depreciated over their estimated useful 
economic lives on a straight line basis as follows:

Asset category Annual rate

Office furniture and equipment 25%

Housing furniture and equipment 25%

Motor vehicles 20%
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j) Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the charitable company becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial liabilities are classified according 
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

Financial assets and liabilities

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at transaction price (including transaction 
costs), unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction. If an arrangement constitutes a 
finance transaction, the financial asset or financial liability is measured at the present value of the 
future payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when and only when (a) the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the financial asset expire or are settled, (b) the company transfers to another party 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (c) the company, 
despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership, has transferred control of 
the asset to another party and the other party has the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety 
to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without needing to 
impose additional restrictions on the transfer.

Financial liabilities are derecognised only when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. Balances that are classified as payable or receivable within 
one year on initial recognition are measured at the undiscounted amount of the cash or other 
consideration expected to be paid or received, net of impairment.

k) Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS) loans and Capital Advanced Leasing Facility 
(CALF) loans
Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS) loans and Capital Advanced Leasing Facility (CALF) loans are 
recognised as creditors falling due for repayment after more than one year. CAS and CALF loans 
received for the acquisition of property are released to the Unrestricted Income Funds when the 
term of the relevant CAS or CALF mortgage is completed.

CAS loans received for the acquisition of property are released to the Unrestricted Income Funds 
when the terms of the relevant CAS mortgages are completed; CALF loans received for the 
acquisition of property are repayable when the terms of the relevant CALF mortgages are completed.

On completion of the loan period, provided certain conditions are met, the loans and interest, if 
applicable, are relieved in full and will be released to unrestricted capital reserves and not amortised.

l) Capital Grants and Donations
Capital Grants and Donations, received in relation to Housing properties, were historically taken 
directly to Restricted Income Funds and were not recognised as income in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Activities.

The Charities SORP recognises such grants as restricted income in the SOFA.

Grants received to fund other capital expenditure are taken to Capital Grants and Donations and 
amortised to income over the estimated useful lives of the related fixed assets.

m) Reserves policy
Focus Ireland needs reserves to:

 > Ensure that the charity can continue to provide a stable and quality service to those who need it.
 > Meet contractual liabilities should the organisation have to close. This includes redundancy pay, 
amounts due to creditors and commitments under leases.

 > Meet unexpected costs, e.g. breakdown of essential office machinery, staff cover re: illness, 
maternity leave, parental leave, and legal costs defending the charity’s interest.

 > Provide working capital when funding is paid in arrears and place the charity in a position where 
it could bid for funding which can be paid in arrears.

 > Meet the costs of winding up the organisation in the event that this was necessary.
 > Act as a buttress when our advocacy voice puts us into conflict with our funders.
 > Be adequate to cover 13 weeks of current expenditure for Focus Ireland.
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Restricted income funds
Restricted funds are funds subject to specific trusts, which may be declared by the donor(s) or 
with their authority or created through legal process, but still within the wider objectives of the 
charity. Restricted funds may be restricted income funds, which are expendable at the discretion 
of the trustees in furtherance of some particular aspect(s) of the objectives of the charity, or they 
may be capital funds, where the assets are required to be invested, or retained for actual use, 
rather than expended.

Unrestricted income funds
Unrestricted funds are expendable at the discretion of the Board in furtherance of the charity’s 
objectives. The Directors can designate part or all of the unrestricted funds for specific purposes. 
These designations have an administrative purpose only, and do not legally restrict the Board’s 
discretion to apply the fund.

Designated income funds
Designated funds are those that are allocated from unrestricted reserves to spend on a specific 
purpose/area.

n) Comparative figures
Comparative figures have been classified on the same basis as the current financial year.

2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of 
estimation and uncertainty

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 1, the directors 
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Company’s accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with 
separately below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the company’s accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Properties
All initial expenditure, to ensure the property is fit for purpose, is capitalised at cost. Under the 
terms of our loan agreements with respective local authorities, the Company is required to keep 
the mortgaged properties in good structural order, repair and condition and not to permit the 
mortgaged properties to depreciate by neglect or mismanagement. To ensure this is the case, 
the company engages in a comprehensive management and maintenance programme involving 
annual condition surveys which are externally assessed by rotation.

Depreciation is not provided on the cost of Land and Main Fabric of Housing Properties on the 
grounds that the estimated residual value after 50 years is at least equal to the capitalised cost.

Depreciation is provided on the cost of other component parts of Housing Properties to bring 
them to their residual value at the end of their estimated useful life, as follows:

Asset category Estimated useful life – years

Windows and external doors 30
Gas boilers/fires 15
Kitchen 20
Bathroom/WCs 30
Mechanical systems 30
Electrics 40
Lift 25
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All additions to Housing units have been accounted for on the basis of their component parts.

The majority of Housing Properties acquired by Focus Ireland CLG have been financed by way of 
Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS) loans which are repayable in full for 20 years (purchases prior to 
2002) or 30 years (purchases post 2002). Loans under CAS have not been amortised on the basis 
that the loans remain repayable in full, for term noted above, if certain conditions are not met 
during the loan term.

On completion of the loan period, provided certain conditions are met, the loans and interest, if 
applicable, are relieved in full and will be released to unrestricted capital reserves and not amortised.

Major works maintenance (e.g. replacement of kitchens, bathrooms, boilers) in existing housing units 
will be capitalised and written off over the estimated useful life of the expenditure.

Recoverability of debtors
In assessing the recoverability of debtors, amounts falling due within one year, the directors have 
made the assumption that any impairment resulting from the non-recoverability of the debtors owed 
to the group and company will not be in excess of the bad debt provision that has been put in place. 
The directors believe that no further provisioning is required.

3. Financial performance of the charity

The consolidated statement of financial activities includes the results of the charity’s subsidiaries 
Focus Housing Association CLG and Excellent Common Areas Owner Management Limited and its 
Joint Venture, The Caretakers Project CLG.

The summary financial performance of Focus Ireland CLG alone is as follows:

2019 2018

€ €

Income 24,307,252 22,851,596

Expenditure (24,541,321) (23,065,101)

Net expenditure (234,069) (213,505)

Total accumulated funds brought forward 6,605,517 6,819,022

Total accumulated funds carried forward 6,371,448 6,605,517

The funds of the charity:

Restricted income funds 2,026,103 2,026,103

Unrestricted income funds 3,928,891 2,552,343

Capital grants and donations 416,454 427,071

Designated funds – 1,600,000

Total accumulated funds 6,371,448 6,605,517

Details of the Caretakers project CLG and Excellent Common Areas Owner Management Limited 
are outlined in Note 15.
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4. Income from donations and legacies and raising funds

2019
Total

2018
Total

€ €

Public funding 7,704,515 6,824,179

Partnership and philanthropy 1,149,680 1,507,952

Corporate and campaigns 2,263,141 1,968,063

Capital donations 680,000 771,087

Retail – Beloved shops 247,716 331,336

Gift in kind – 5,000

12,045,052 11,407,617

The following is a selection of donors included in fundraising income:

2019 2018

€ €

Bord Gáis Energy 391,909 467,533

Applegreen 265,153 78,610

Little Company of Mary 240,000 40,000

The Community Foundation of Ireland 235,530 224,782

Social Innovation Fund 153,900 153,900

Fidelity Investments 89,990 –

Musgraves 80,000 60,000

Setanta Premier Group 60,000 140,000

ESB 35,000 5,000

Vistra Investments 30,000 73,000

Costs associated with raising funds were €3,656,743, which was 30% of funds raised in 2019 
(2018: €3,152,300, 28% of funds raised).

2019 2018

€ €

Staff costs (including training and pension costs) 1,349,508 1,292,752

Administration 1,867,864 1,551,488

Programme activities 191,695 134,560

Premises costs 247,676 173,500

Total 3,656,743 3,152,300
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5. Income from charitable activities

2019 2018

Note € €

DRHE – Local Authority 5,418,156 5,037,918

– HSE 1,210,639 1,349,895

Tusla  3,581,116 3,448,790

HSE – Other areas 305,870 222,256

– South-East 172,347 163,552

– Mid-West 120,267 145,008

City of Dublin Youth Service Board (CDYSB) 9 408,607 403,807

Department of Social Protection 390,876 282,451

Waterford City Council 615,696 554,878

Louth/Cavan/Monaghan County Councils 50,030 45,000

Clare County Council 273,722 90,000

Genio – (8,333)

Cork County Council 99,544 80,000

Limerick City and County Council 940,400 769,206

Department of Housing, Planning and Local Government 109,319 –

Sligo County Council 171,822 155,414

Dublin City Council 30,408 141,582

Kilkenny County Council 74,320 74,320

Dept. of Housing, Planning and Local Government as administered by Pobal 65,007 58,130

CDETB/SOLAS/DES 14,007 14,007

Carlow County Council 118,548 124,320

Tipperary County Council 49,551 45,417

Miscellaneous adjustment (188,686) –

14,031,566 13,197,618

All income from charitable activities is restricted.

6. Other income

Other income includes trading income (rental income, payment and availability income 
(PAA) and restaurant sales), deposit interest earned and income from other activities 
(parents’ contributions towards childcare centres and other miscellaneous income).

2019 2018

€ €

Income from trading activities 5,404,197 4,348,254

Income from other activities 182,896 99,105

5,587,093 4,447,359
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7. Charitable activities

Sustained  
exits

Prevention 
services

Total  
2019

Total  
2018

€ € € €

Direct costs

Staff costs 10,642,096 5,087,934 15,730,030 14,794,143

Administration 1,288,863 228,638 1,517,501 979,069

Programme activities 598,456 360,823 959,279 958,422

Premises costs 4,291,921 1,025,863 5,317,784 4,751,626

Total direct costs  16,821,336 6,703,258 23,524,594 21,483,260

Support costs (a) 1,691,551 924,924 2,616,475 2,680,099

Advocacy costs 636,498 347,271 983,769 859,466

Governance costs 19,273 10,515 29,788 29,000

Total expenditure 19,168,658 7,985,968 27,154,626 25,051,825

(a) Support costs
Where support costs are attributable to a particular activity, the costs are allocated directly 
to that activity. Where support costs are incurred to further more than one activity, they are 
apportioned between the relevant activities based on the amount of staff time which each 
activity absorbs. The allocation of the main types of support costs is detailed below:

Sustained  
exits

Prevention 
services

Total  
2019

Total  
2018

€ € € €

Function

Finance 426,240 233,064 659,304 1,058,767

HQ 190,261 104,033 294,294 277,499

Human resources 538,195 294,280 832,475 697,663

IT 244,351 133,609 377,960 259,907

Other support costs 292,504 159,938 452,442 386,263

Total expenditure 1,691,551 924,924 2,616,475 2,680,099

Other support costs relate to development, property management, head office and service 
resource costs.
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8. Interest on borrowings

2019 2018

€ €

Loan interest 518,185 386,199

9. Income and expenditure on Dept. of Children & Youth Affairs/ 
City of Dublin Youth Service Board

2019 2018

€ €

Income

DCYA/CDYSB – SPY 408,607 403,807

Expenditure

Staff costs (370,811) (375,053)

Programme and admin costs (37,796) (28,754)

Surplus – –
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10. Employees and key management remuneration

Included in the consolidated statement of financial activities are staff costs in the sum of €18,846,715 
(2018: €17,927,096), made up as follows:

2019 2018

€ €

Included in resources expended are wages and salary costs,  
including associated social welfare costs, comprising:

Wages and salaries – Raising funds 1,318,317 1,232,734

Wages and salaries – Charitable activities 16,500,493 15,936,606

Wages and salaries – Advocacy 452,100 385,859

Redundancy costs 108,985 31,696

Pension costs 466,820 340,201

18,846,715 17,927,096

Employer PRSI costs incurred during the year, and included in the above, totalled €1,704,665 
(2018: €1,587,127).

The company operates a defined contribution scheme which is an independent scheme of the 
company. Company contributions were 7% of pensionable salary and employee contributions 
were 5% of pensionable salary. Amounts outstanding at year end in respect of employer pension 
contributions were €112,839 (2018: €49,298) and were paid within 30 days of the year end.

The average number of persons employed by the Group during the year was 415 (2018: 396). 
In addition to this, we have relief staff which equates to 19 full-time equivalents (2018: 62).

The number of higher paid employees (including key management personnel) was:

Salary range paid in the financial year:

2019 2018

No. of employees No. of employees

€130,001 – €140,000 – –

€120,001 – €130,000 1 –

€110,001 – €120,000 – 1

€100,001 – €110,000 – –

€ 90,001 – €100,000 – 1

€ 80,001 – €90,000 2 2

€ 70,001 – €80,000 3 1

€ 60,000 – €70,000 8 10

During 2019, the Chief Executive in place, Pat Dennigan, earned a salary of €120,448 plus 
€5,000 medical insurance. The total remuneration packages of the key management personnel 
(including employer PRSI and pension) for the group for the financial year ended 31 December 
2019 was €828,183 (2018: €673,307).
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11. Directors’ remuneration

No salaries or fees are payable to the directors of the Company for their services as directors. 
For many years, the company has operated a policy of allowing staff to elect a Worker Director 
to the board on a three-year term. No allowance, increased salary or other remuneration is 
payable to the staff member holding this position. This person is paid a salary for their normal 
work within Focus Ireland.

12. Net income and net movement in funds for the year

2019 2018

€ €

The net income for the year is stated after charging:

Directors’ remuneration (see Note 11) – –

Fees paid to auditors (exclusive of VAT)

Audit fees 40,242 26,959

Other assurance services – 2,040

Other items

Operating lease payments 1,279,311 827,584

Depreciation 613,327 329,507

Deposit interest – –

13. Taxation

Focus Ireland CLG, its subsidiaries and associated Joint Venture have been granted charitable tax 
exemption by the Revenue Commissioners and as a result no charge to Corporation Tax arises.
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14. Financial assets

The Caretakers Project CLG was established as a joint venture to manage a project under 
which Focus Ireland CLG would provide all the administrative and financial input into the 
Company and the Society of St Vincent de Paul would make available the property from 
which the Company would operate.

The effect of the results of this joint venture (which is treated as a subsidiary) on the 
Group are summarised as follows:

2019 2018

€’000 €’000

Statement of financial activities

Donations and legacies – –

Grants received (HSE) 767 767

767 767

Less:

Support and advocacy services (767) (778)

Net (deficit)/surplus – (11)

Balance sheet

Cash at bank and in hand 540 128

Creditors, accruals and deferred income (533) (121)

Net assets 7 7

The funds of the charity

Reserves brought forward 7 18

Deficit for the year – (11)

Total accumulated funds 7 7

Excellent Common Areas Owner Management Limited results for 2019 are summarised as follows:

2019 2018

€’000 €’000

Balance sheet

Debtors 7 7

Net assets 7 7

The funds of the charity

Reserves brought forward 7 7

Surplus for the year – –

Total accumulated funds 7 7
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15. Fixed assets – properties
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€ € € € € € € € € €

Cost

At beginning of year 91,450,101 2,657,243 1,352,035 1,068,702 2,079,270 1,346,787 1,259,746 1,152,917 678,603 103,045,404

Additions 9,512,266 1,094,066 492,275 338,043 750,940 466,450 442,685 422,327 252,946 13,771,998

Disposals – – –  – – – – – – –

At end of year 100,962,367 3,751,309 1,844,310 1,406,745 2,830,210 1,813,237 1,702,431 1,575,244 931,549 116,817,402

Depreciation

At beginning of year – 76,038 90,242 148,585 202,298 87,445 82,927 55,911 42,174 785,619

Charge for year – 53,326 61,160 79,728 140,669 60,000 56,311 39,176 46,605 536,975

At end of year – 129,364 151,402 228,313 342,967 147,445 139,238 95,087 88,778 1,322,594

Carrying value

At 31/12/19 100,962,367 3,621,945 1,692,908 1,178,432 2,487,243 1,665,792 1,563,193 1,480,157 842,771 115,494,808

At 31/12/18 91,450,101 2,581,205 1,261,793 920,117 1,876,972 1,259,342 1,176,819 1,097,006 636,430 102,259,785
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16. Other tangible assets

Group
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€ € € € €

Cost

At beginning of financial year 31,763 769,838 573,556 114,780 1,489,937

Additions – 682,432 36,755 – 719,187

At end of financial year 31,763 1,452,270 610,311 114,780 2,209,124

Depreciation

At beginning of financial year – 695,622 531,651 114,447 1,341,720

Charge for financial year 54,882 21,135 333 76,350

At end of financial year – 750,504 552,786 114,780 1,418,070

Carrying amount

At 31/12/19 31,763 701,766 57,525 – 791,054

At 31/12/18 31,763 74,216 41,905 333 148,217

Company
All the other fixed assets above, with the exception of housing furniture and equipment, are held 
within the holding company, Focus Ireland CLG. The housing furniture and equipment is held in 
the subsidiary company, Focus Housing Association CLG. The net book value of other assets in the 
holding company at 31 December 2019 and 2018 was €791,054 and €148,217 respectively.

17. Debtors

Amounts falling due within one year: Focus Ireland Group Focus Ireland Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

€ € € €

Other debtors 884,185 1,407,333 360,807 419,854

Grants receivable 1,363,551 285,634 1,395,239 285,634

Prepayments 192,628 133,070 99,201 101,349

Amount due from subsidiaries – – 1,795,213 1,416,147

2,440,364 1,826,037 3,650,460 2,222,884
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18. Creditors

Amounts falling due within  
one financial year

Focus Ireland Group Focus Ireland Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

€ € € €

Trade creditors 981,739 1,371,617 766,992 657,697

Accruals 1,859,232 2,451,105 1,641,817 1,948,004

Other creditors 234,696 206,821 177,099 185,036

Deferred income – 45,094 – 45,094

PAYE/PRSI/USC 417,632 375,529 417,633 375,529

VAT 115,520 187,371 63,604 129

Grants received in advance 238,731 231,267 238,731 231,267

Bank loans (Note 22) 756,325 785,748 – –

Provisions (Note 18a) 113,900 200,000 – –

4,717,775 5,854,552 3,305,876 3,442,756

Deferred income relates to funds received in 2019 that were unspent at year end.

18a. Movement in provision

At 1 January 2019 200,000

Movement in provision (86,100)

At 31 December 2019 113,900

The provision relates to remedial works required to properties owned in the South East Region.
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19. Capital Assistance Scheme loans

Focus Ireland Group Focus Ireland Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

€ € € €

George’s Hill 3,421,023 3,421,023 – –

Buckingham Street 93,987 93,987 – –

Ballybough 172,488 172,488 – –

Finglas 4,895,398 4,895,398 – –

Basin Lane 1,077,956 1,077,956 – –

Parnell Street, Limerick 740,257 740,256 – –

Grange Cohan, Waterford 5,453,940 5,453,940 – –

Corbrac House, Limerick 1,129,429 1,129,429 – –

Waterford units 16,663,914 14,522,424 – –

Belmont, Waterford 8,516,913 8,516,913 – –

Dublin units 17,512,973 12,171,332 – –

Limerick units 6,000,932 5,404,549 – –

Cork units 4,849,061 4,279,061 – –

Kilkenny units 2,810,024 2,422,028 – –

Sligo units 2,134,123 1,950,623 – –

Aftercare, North Circular Rd, Dublin 7 2,403,121 2,403,121 – –

Tipperary units 470,068 451,000 – –

Clare units 1,920,285 1,890,930 – –

Wexford units 1,862,500 1,378,500 – –

Carlow units 1,063,255 430,500 – –

Kildare units 631,016 557,000 – –

Total 83,822,663 73,362,458 – –

Loans advanced by municipal (housing) authorities have a 20-year repayment period for 
those advances prior to 2002, and a 30-year repayment period for those advanced post 2002. 
However, the Subsidiary company is relieved in full of repayments of capital and interest so 
long as the housing authority is satisfied that the accommodation continues to be properly 
maintained and to be let to eligible categories of persons at reasonable rent levels.

In the event of the accommodation not continuing to be let in accordance with the terms 
of the scheme, the Subsidiary company will become liable for repaying the outstanding 
balance of the loan together with any accrued interest. In the event of default of 
repayments, the housing authorities may take appropriate steps to secure redemption of 
the loan. The Subsidiary company may not, if there is any balance outstanding on the loans, 
dispose of the accommodation without the consent of the housing authorities.
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20. Capital Advanced Leasing Facility (CALF) loans

Focus Ireland Group Focus Ireland Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

€ € € €

Stanhope Green 312,695 307,075 – –

Bremore Pastures 110,106 108,104 – –

Harold’s Cross 707,674 694,525 – –

John’s Lane West 1,796,833 1,676,536 – –

Abigail 400,385 346,550 – –

Barney 137,012 134,378 – –

At end of year 3,464,705 3,267,168 – –

Loans advanced by municipal (housing) authorities have repayment period of between 20 and 30 
years, specific to the loan. However, the Subsidiary company is relieved in full of repayments of 
capital and interest so long as the housing authority is satisfied that the accommodation continues to 
be properly maintained and to be let to eligible categories of persons at reasonable rent levels.

21. Bank loans

Focus Ireland Group Focus Ireland Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

€ € € €

Falling due within one financial year 756,325 785,748 – –

Falling due between 1 and 2 financial years 779,827 785,748 – –

Falling due between 2 and 5 financial years 2,469,285 2,357,244 – –

Falling due over 5 financial years 12,535,735 10,705,029 – –

Total falling due after more than  
one financial year

15,784,847 13,848,021 – –

Total bank loans 16,541,172 14,633,769 – –

In 2019 Focus Housing Association Company Limited by Guarantee loans comprised the following:

 > €2,776,701 on a 15-year term from Bank of Ireland in order to finance the development of the 
residential units at Stanhope Green, Dublin; and Bremore Pastures, Balbriggan, Co. Dublin

 > €3,845,637 on a 23-year term from the Housing Finance Agency (HFA) to finance the 
development of residential units at Harold’s Cross, Dublin

 > €6,445,388 on a 23-year term loan from HFA was taken out to finance 31 units at John’s Lane West.
 > Further 20-year term loans were received from the HFA in 2018 to finance the acquisition of 
properties in Dublin under project Abigail, and in Cork under project Barney; a 10-year term loan 
for energy upgrades for 68 properties in Grange Cohan, Waterford; and a 25-year term loan for the 
acquisition of three properties in Lucan, Co Dublin.

 > Repayments made during the year totalled €1,157,974 (2018: €872,362).
 > Interest charged on the outstanding amount up to 31 December 2019 was €388,409  
(2018: €323,337).
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There are no loans in any of the other group companies.

Further details on borrowings are outlined in the below table:

Loan 1 Loan 2 Loan 3 Loan 4 Loan 5 Loan 6 Loan 7 Loan 8

€ € € € € € € €

Purpose Bremore 
Pastures 
properties

Stanhope Green 
development

Harold’s Cross 
development

Abigail project John’s Lane 
West

Barney project Grange Cohan 
energy upgrade

3 Lucan 
properties

Property 
address

Balbriggan,  
Co. Dublin

Stanhope Street, 
Dublin 7

Greenmount 
Close, Harold’s 
Cross, Dublin 6W

Various 
properties 
across Dublin

John’s Lane 
West, Dublin

Various 
properties 
across Cork

St John’s Park, 
Co. Waterford

Lucan,  
Co. Dublin

Loan 
provider

Bank of Ireland Bank of Ireland Housing Finance 
Agency

Housing Finance 
Agency

Housing Finance 
Agency

Housing Finance 
Agency

Housing Finance 
Agency

Housing Finance 
Agency

Security Charge over:
 > PAA income
 > PAA bank 

account
 > Bremore 

properties
 > Letter of 

Guarantee 
from Focus 
Ireland 
(€505,862)

Charge over:
 > PAA income
 > receivables 

from the 
Capital Grants 
agreement

 > Stanhope 
Green 
development 
property

Housing loans 
provided by 
the HFA are 
secured by fixed 
charges on 
specific housing 
properties

Housing loans 
provided by 
the HFA are 
secured by fixed 
charges on 
specific housing 
properties

Housing loans 
provided by 
the HFA are 
secured by fixed 
charges on 
specific housing 
properties

Housing loans 
provided by 
the HFA are 
secured by fixed 
charges on 
specific housing 
properties

Charge over:
 > HFA bank 

account

Housing loans 
provided by 
the HFA are 
secured by fixed 
charges on 
specific housing 
properties

22. Total creditors falling due after more than one financial year

Focus Ireland Group Focus Ireland Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

€ € € €

Falling due between 1 and 2 financial years 779,827 785,748 – –

Falling due between 2 and 5 financial years 2,469,285 2,357,244 – –

Falling due after 5 financial years 100,579,428 87,334,655 – –

103,828,540 90,477,647 – –

23. Restricted income funds

Focus Ireland Group Focus Ireland Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

€ € € €

Opening balance accumulated funds 3,471,456 2,421,916 2,026,103 2,026,103

Net income 785,853 1,049,540 – –

4,257,309 3,471,456 2,026,103 2,026,103
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24. Unrestricted funds

Focus Ireland Group Focus Ireland Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

€ € € €

Opening balance accumulated funds 7,501,351 8,078,003 2,552,343 2,755,231

Net (expenditure)/income (451,696) (587,269) (234,069) (213,505)

Transfer of reserves 1,600,000 – 1,600,000 –

Amortisation of capital grants 20,069 10,617 10,617 10,617

8,669,724 7,501,351 3,928,891 2,552,343

Strategy review
The group holds bank funds of €7,862,643 as at 31 December 2019 (2018: €10,562,883). Arising 
from the economic recession and after a sustained period of strategic investment of reserves in both 
housing and provision of services, the board are committed to rebuilding its cash reserves to ensure the 
sustainability and stability of its activities.

25. Capital grants and donations

Focus Ireland Group Focus Ireland Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

€ € € €

Capital grants and donations

Balance at beginning of financial year 3,737,882 3,737,882 607,402 607,402

Amounts received during the financial year – – – –

Balance at end of financial year 3,737,882 3,737,882 607,402 607,402

Amortisation

Balance at beginning of financial year (436,232) (425,615) (180,331) (169,714)

Released during financial year (20,069) (10,617) (10,617) (10,617)

Balance at end of financial year (456,301) (436,232) (190,948) (180,331)

Net capital grants and donations 3,281,581 3,301,650 416,454 427,071
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26. Unrestricted capital reserves

Focus Ireland Group Focus Ireland Company

2019 2018 2019 2018

€ € € €

Balance at beginning and end of year 2,590,265 2,590,265 – –

In 2010 the CAS loan for Stanhope Green was transferred from CAS loans to Unrestricted 
Capital Reserves as the term of the loan was completed.

27. Designated funds

The Designated reserves in 2018 related to a one-off donation of €1.6m from the Immigrant Investor 
Program. This reserve has been utilised in full.

28. Reconciliation of net income/(expenditure) before taxation 
to net cash flows (used in)/generated from charitable activities

2019 2018

€ €

Focus Ireland Group 

Net income before taxation 334,157 462,271

Depreciation 536,987 329,507

Interest paid 388,409 380,799

Loss on disposal – 25,809

(Increase)/Decrease in debtors (614,327) 926,113

(Decrease) in creditors (excluding bank loan) (1,107,365) (166,494)

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from charitable activities (462,139) 1,958,005

Focus Ireland Company 

Net expenditure before taxation (234,069) (213,505)

Depreciation charges 76,350 28,698

(Increase)/Decrease in debtors (1,427,576) 1,583,092

Decrease in creditors (136,880) (385,404)

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities (1,722,175) 1,012,881
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29. Capital and leasing commitments and contingent  
assets and liabilities

a) Capital commitments
The Board have approved a strategy of housing expansion to be carried on as part of the 
strategic plan for 2017–2020 to meet the growing needs of people who are homeless. 
Company capital commitments approved by the Board at 31 December 2019 in respect of the 
John’s Lane West development amounted to €0.2m (2018: €8.4m).

b) Leasing commitments
At the balance sheet date, the company had total future minimum lease commitments 
under non-recoverable operating leases in respect of offices, housing land and buildings as 
set out below: 

2019 2018

€ €

Less than 1 year 1,279,311 1,717,132

Between 2 and 5 years 3,254,705 3,507,250

Over 5 years 4,797,286 6,320,445

9,331,302 11,544,827

c) Contingent liabilities
There were no contingent liabilities at 31 December 2019 (2018: €Nil).

d) Contingent asset
There were no contingent assets at 31 December 2019 (2018: €Nil)

30. Related party transactions

During 2019, Focus Ireland CLG had related party transactions with Focus Housing Association 
CLG and The Caretakers Project CLG. At 31 December 2019, Focus Housing Association CLG owed 
Focus Ireland CLG €1,265,875 (2018: €1,298,007). Focus Housing Association CLG is a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Focus Ireland. The transactions between the companies during the year related to 
working capital movements. At 31 December 2019, The Caretakers Project CLG owed Focus Ireland 
CLG €529,337 (2018: €118,140). Caretakers Project CLG is a joint venture set up between Focus 
Ireland CLG and St Vincent de Paul. All transactions during the year related to working capital 
movement on the project. All related party transactions were eliminated on consolidation.
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31. Financial instruments – Group

2019 2018

€ €

Financial assets
Measured at undiscounted amount receivable

 > Other debtors (Note 17) 884,185 1,407,333

 > Grants receivable (Note 17) 1,363,551 285,634

Financial liabilities
Measured at undiscounted amount payable

 > Trade creditors (Note 18) 981,739 1,371,617

 > Other creditors (Note 18) 234,696 206,821

 > Provisions (Note 18) 113,900 200,000

Measured at amortised cost

 > Bank loans (Note 21) 15,784,847 13,848,021

 > CAS loans (Note 19) 83,822,663 73,362,458

 > CALF loans (Note 20) 3,464,705  3,267,168

32. Post balance sheet events

Coronavirus disease 2019 (Covid-19) is an infectious disease caused by severe acute respiratory 
syndrome coronavirus 2 (Sars-CoV-2). The disease was first identified in 2019 in Wuhan, the 
capital of China’s Hubei province, and has since spread globally, resulting in the ongoing 
coronavirus pandemic. The earliest known infection occurred on 17 November 2019 in Wuhan, 
China. The World Health Organization (WHO) declared the 2019–20 coronavirus outbreak a 
Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC) on 30 January 2020 and a pandemic 
on 11 March 2020. From an accounting perspective, Covid-19 is considered to be a non-adjusting 
post balance sheet event.

We have considered the risks that coronavirus poses to the organisation and the actions we are 
taking to mitigate the impact. The disclosure implications of this post balance sheet event have 
been addressed in the risks and uncertainties note within the directors’ report.

33. Approval of financial statements

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 August 2020.
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Appendix to the financial statements

Analysis of Income and Expenditure for Department of Children  
& Youth Affairs/City of Dublin Youth Services Board  
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

€ €

Income 

Grant 408,607 403,807

Expenditure

Salaries and pension 334,215 338,648

ER PRSI 36,596 36,405

Programme and activity 9,195 25,874

Mobile and telephone 11,242 2,386

Light, heat and other costs 10,004 –

Postage, stationery and TV costs 3,420 494

Repairs and maintenance 3,935 –

408,607 403,807

Result – –
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Appendix to the financial statements

Analysis of income and expenditure for CDETB/ 
Solas/Department of Education and Skills  
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

€ €

Income 

Grant 14,007 14,007

Expenditure

Salaries 12,636 12,647

ER PRSI 1,371 1,360

14,007 14,007

Result – –

112 Focus Ireland Annual Report 2019



Appendix to the financial statements

Supplementary income and expenditure analysis

2019 2018

€ €

Income
Fundraising 12,045,052 11,407,617

Grants 14,031,566 13,197,619

Other 5,587,093 4,447,359

Total income 31,663,711 29,052,595

Expenditure

Administration

Equipment hire 225,151 42,103

Depreciation 593,258 336,265

Insurance 245,682 214,958

Interest and charges 597,151 443,651

Phones 281,074 261,706

Printing and stationery 143,764 182,072

Professional fees 796,303 1,039,930

Subscriptions 64,213 35,550

Premises

Fuel and power 315,491 346,340

PAA, rent and rates 2,137,268 1,661,377

Property maintenance 1,782,131 1,395,291

Security and cleaning 1,451,973 1,461,507

Programme/activities

Activity costs 845,557 859,996

Programme costs 187,375 224,166

Promotion and research 627,243 398,440

Staff costs (including pension) 19,262,223 18,252,944

Fundraising costs (excluding salaries) 1,773,697 1,434,028

Total expenses 31,329,554 28,590,324

Net income before taxation 334,157 462,271
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Our funders in 2019

KILKENNY 
COUNTY COUNCIL

SLIGO
COUNTY COUNCIL
COMHAIRLE CHONTAE SHLIGIGH

Comhairle Contae Mhuineacháin
Monaghan County Council

State agencies

Local authorities

Government departments

Louth 
County 
Council

An Roinn Oideachais 
agus Scileanna
Department of 
Education and Skills

An Roinn Gnóthaí Fostaíochta
agus Coimirce Sóisialaí
Department of Employment A�airs 
and Social Protection

An Roinn Tithíochta, 
Pleanála agus Rialtais Áitiúil
Department of Housing, 
Planning and Local Government
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